
Please ask for  Helen McAleer: Telephone (01362) 656381 
e-mail: helen.mcaleer@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - LOCAL STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD 

Date & Time - THURSDAY, 19TH FEBRUARY, 2009 at 2.00 
pm 

Venue - Norfolk Room, The Committee Suite, Elizabeth 
House, Dereham 

 
 
 

REPRESENTATIVE ORGANISATION 
Councillor William Nunn (Chairman) Breckland 
David Ovenden (Vice-Chairman) Dereham Area Partnership 
Mike Austin Norfolk Constabulary 
Debbie Bartlett Norfolk County Council 
Ian Clarke Eastern Daily Press 
Tony Dickens Iceni Partnership, Swaffham 
John Dixon Norfolk Rural Community Council 
Andrew Egerton-Smith Norfolk PCT 
Katie Elliott Police 
Jan Godfrey Wayland Partnership 
John Gretton Norfolk County Council 
Andrew Heginbotham Norfolk Fire Service 
Trevor Holden Breckland 
Brian Horner Voluntary Norfolk 
Valerie Jenkins Norfolk Police Authority 
Shirley Matthews Norfolk Association of Parish and Town Councils 
Jim Mullenger Iceni Partnership 
Dave Seaton Peddars Way Housing Association 
Neil Stott Keystone Development Trust 
Lucy Walker Learning Skills Council 
Caroline Williams Norfolk Chamber of Commerce 

 
Member Services     

Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Tuesday, 10 February 2009  
 

Public Document Pack



LSP Board 
19 February 2009 

 
 
 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 

1. MINUTES  1 - 32 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2008 .  
 

 

2. MATTERS ARISING   

3. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any items of urgent 
business.  
 

 

5. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests they may have 
in any of the following items on the agenda.  
 

 

6. SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY STRATEGY - OVERVIEW & PROJECT 
GROUPS UPDATE  

 

 To receive an update from Mark Fretwell, Breckland Partnership (LSP) 
Officer.  
 

 

7. PERFORMANCE REPORTING   

a) Pride in Breckland Project 33 - 50  

 (Rob Walker – Project Lead)  
 

 

b) Health & Wellbeing Project   

 (Martin Seymour, Project Lead)  
 

 

c) Economic Prosperity Project   

 (Mark Stanton, Project Lead)  
 

 

d) Thetford Healthy Town - Update 51 - 80  

 (Rob Walker and Martin Seymour)  
 

 

e) Cohesion Pilot   

 Update by Rob Walker.  
 

 

8. ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT GROUP  81 - 87 

 To receive the attached report by Mark Fretwell, Breckland Partnership 
(LSP) Officer.  
 

 



LSP Board 
19 February 2009 

 

9. LIBRARY SERVICES (ACHIEVING POSITIVE OUTCOMES FOR THE 
COMMUNITY)  

 

 To receive a presentation by Sarah Hassan and Brigitte Morton, Library 
and Information Service.  
 

 

10. SKILLS ROAD MAP   

 To receive a presentation by Lucy Walker, Learning Skills Council (LSC).  
 

 

11. CLEANER, SAFER, GREENER CHARTER  88 - 96 

 To receive an update from Mark Fretwell, Breckland Partnership (LSP) 
Officer.  
 

 

12. RISK MATRIX AND WORKSHOP  97 - 100 

 To receive the attached report.  
 

 

13. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK (LDF) AND SUSTAINABLE 
COMMUNITY STRATEGY (SCS)  

101 - 104 

 To receive the attached report by Mark Fretwell, Breckland Partnership 
(LSP) Officer.  
 

 

14. COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT - NORFOLK LSPS 
SUMMARY  

105 - 116 

 To receive a verbal update by Mark Fretwell, Breckland Partnership 
(LSP) Officer.  
 

 

15. BUDGET   

 To receive an update on Partnership finances.  
 

 

16. ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDAS   

 To agree items for inclusion on the next or future agenda.  
 

 

17. FUTURE MEETINGS  117 

 To note that the next meeting of the LSP Board will be held on Thursday 
14 May 2009, at 2.00 pm in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, 
Breckland Council. 
 
A list of future LSP Board and Project Group meeting dates is attached 
for information.  
 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

LOCAL STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 

Held on Thursday, 11 December 2008 at 2.00 pm in 
Bowls Club Room, Watton Sports Centre, Watton 

 
PRESENT  
Inspector M. Austin Norfolk Constabulary 
Ms D. Bartlett Norfolk County Council 
Mr J. Dixon Norfolk Rural Community Council 
Ms K Elliott Police 
Mr P. Elliott (In place of Ms D. Bartlett) Norfolk County Council (LSP Sub) 
Mr G. Hayes (In place of Mr D. Ovenden) Dereham Area Partnership (Substitute) 
Mr T. Holden (Chairman) Breckland 
Mr B. Horner Voluntary Norfolk 
Mrs V. Jenkins Norfolk Police Authority 
Mr J Mullenger Iceni Partnership 

 
In Attendance  
Sarah Bruton - Environmental Services Manager 
Sheila Cresswell - Member Services Officer 
Mark Fretwell - LSP Officer 
Mike Green - Norfolk Constabulary 
Helen McAleer - Member Services Officer 
David Spencer - Principal Planning Policy Officer 
Robert Walker - Sustainable Communities Manager 

 
 Action 

By 

 
66/07 MINUTES   
  
 In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, Trevor Holden 

assumed the Chair. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 October 2008 were agreed as a 
correct record.  

 

  
67/07 APOLOGIES   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Ian Clarke, Andrew Egerton-

Smith, Jan Godfrey, John Gretton, Shirley Matthews, William Nunn, 
David Ovenden, Neil Stott, Lucy Walker and Caroline Williams.  

 

  
68/07 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 Rob Walker asked the Board to consider, as a matter of urgency, a 

request from Dave Seaton of Peddars Way Housing Association 
(PWHA).  He had asked for a place on the Board. 
 
The Board could have a maximum of 25 members; there were currently 
18.  According to the Constitution, a change could be made as long as 
at least two-thirds of the membership present agreed. 

 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 1

1



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

2 

 Action 
By 

 
 
It was AGREED to invite Dave Seaton to become a Member of the 
Board on the understanding that he would feed back information to 
other Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) in the district.  

  
69/07 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK   
  
 David Spencer gave a PowerPoint presentation to the Group (copy 

attached). 
 
He explained that the Local Development Framework (LDF) was the 
planning strategy for the future of the area over the next 16 years.   
 
The Core Strategy of this document had been presented to full Council 
on 20 November 2008 and would be distributed around the district after 
Christmas.  It set out all the objectives and detailed individual policies. 
 
Following a six week publication period the document and approval by 
full Council it would be submitted to the Secretary of State.  An 
Examination in Public would take place in the summer of 2009 with the 
Inspector’s decision due in November 2009. 
 
The Strategy provided for up to 6,000 jobs and 11,000 homes mainly 
focussed along the A11 corridor although other market towns were also 
earmarked for modest increases in houses and jobs. 
 
14 Local Service Centre villages had been identified and four of these 
would have positive growth.  Strong policies would protect existing 
services and facilities at these villages, together with positive policies to 
enhance service provision.  Villages and other remote rural areas also 
had provision for occasional development. 
 
Thetford and Attleborough were particularly marked for significant 
growth and Snetterton had been identified as a strategic employment 
area.  Area Action Plans would be developed for these locations. 
 
The LDF needed to demonstrate strong links to the Sustainable 
Community Strategy (SCS).  Detailed policies were included to address 
priorities. 
 
Infrastructure was a key component of future plans and was needed to 
accompany growth.  Now was the time to look at delivery of a policy 
framework and to put together a ‘shopping list’ of infrastructure 
requirements.  Funding was also being investigated, and a list of 
potential sources was shown.  Monies received would need to be 
allocated to specific areas and carefully co-ordinated. 
 
The possibility of the Partnership being involved in setting tariff levels 
and identifying priorities was discussed.   
 
The Chairman mentioned that the planners in Breckland were doing 
very well – especially in relation to the Thetford Growth Point which was 
being used as a model of Best Practice and had received an increase in 
allocation of almost £2 million over the next two years.  

 

2



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

3 

 Action 
By 

 
  
70/07 ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES   
  
 Sarah Bruton gave a brief update on the Climate Change Agenda.   

 
She provided a summary of the new national indicators for climate 
change and also asked how the LSP could work to achieve the aims 
and objectives. 
 
She felt that the LSP should have their own Environment Strategy and 
suggested that a Working Group should be set up to deliver a project 
such as an Eco House, Eco Garden, Eco Make-over of a Community 
Building or even an entire Eco Village. 
 
A member felt that this needed to be treated with real urgency.  There 
was a lot of goodwill and support available in the community.   
 
The Chairman agreed with the suggestion that this was an issue for a 
sub-group.  He asked for one to be set up and for an outline report on 
their proposals to be presented to the next meeting.  

 

  
71/07 YOUR NORFOLK, YOUR DECISION   
  
 It had been mentioned at a previous meeting that funding had been 

made available for projects to make LAA targets deliverable.   
 
No nominations had been received from external partners.  Mark 

Fretwell (LSP Officer) had submitted the ‘3D project’ which was targeted 

at nine to 19 year olds and comprised three separate projects (YBYz – 
about making the right choices; Beyond Image Productions – 
addressing anti-social behaviour issues; and Prison Me No Way – 
steering young people away from crime and its consequences). 
 
54 applications had been made and the ‘3D project’ had been 
shortlisted and presented at a Decision Day event on 6 December, 
along with 15 others.  Unfortunately it had not been successful. 
Originally the hope had been to reach 3,000 children with the ‘3D 
project’ however it could be scaled down.  Mark hoped that funding 
might be available from the group for this project. 
 
Having checked that money was available in the LSP budget, the 
Chairman suggested that a project paper be presented to the next 
meeting.  

 

  
72/07 SPECIALIST COHESION PILOT   
  
 Rob Walker gave a verbal update on this Pilot which was looking into 

Best Practice and had been carrying out a review since September.  
Various groups had been interviewed and a document review of all 
Cabinet papers for the past year had been carried out.  This had taken 
longer than expected and work would continue until the end of January. 
 
The Neighbourhood Community Advisers were new to rural areas and 

 

3



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

4 

 Action 
By 

 
had found the work challenging.  They had not found any evidence of 
real racial tensions or big problems, but it was felt that the end product 
of their efforts would be useful to all Partners. 
 
A report would be written identifying Best Practice and also the gaps 
that existed and how to address them.  Rob would bring this item back 
to the February meeting, following which it would be launched at the 
Regional Community Cohesion Conference in Norwich in March.  

  
73/07 WAYLAND COMMUNITY RADIO - INFORMATION POINT   
  
 Mark Fretwell told the group that the scripts that they had provided were 

now being broadcast on Wayland Radio.  He handed out a flyer 
advertising the programmes being aired from 28 November to 24 
December 2008.   
 
A tape was played of one of the information point broadcasts and 
Partners were encouraged to provide more scripts as this was a service 
that had already been paid for and should be put to full use. 
 
Rob Walker said that the Station was looking for more content and was 
willing to do interviews with agencies.  They were also looking for future 
funding and were interested in contract arrangements to fund 
permanent broadcasts.  This was a very good resource and offered real 
opportunities.  When the Station received their 12 month license their 
range would be extended. 
 
The Chairman asked that all items for the radio should be sent in 
through Mark Fretwell for audit purposes.  

 

  
74/07 NEIGHBOURHOOD CHARTER   
  
 Rob Walker said that the flyer in the agenda was a summary of the 

main document which was linked to the Pride Campaign.  The full 
charter would be circulated to all Partners when it was available. 
 
The flyer clearly set out the level of service and expectations and gave 
a good description of which agency was responsible for what. 
 
The Chairman said that it was important to make the process clear to 
enable individuals to take responsibility for reporting things rather than 
assuming someone else would do it.  

 

  
75/07 HEALTHY TOWN STATUS - THETFORD   
  
 Rob Walker told the Partnership that Breckland Council and the PCT 

had made an application for Healthy Town Status. 
 
Of 150 applicants at Stage One, they had been among the 24 
shortlisted to Stage Two.  This had involved travelling to London to give 
a presentation to the Key Directors of the Department of Health.   
 
The amount applied for had been £700,000 to be focussed on reducing 
obesity and increasing physical activity.  The application was one of 

 

4



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

5 

 Action 
By 

 
only nine to succeed and was actually awarded £900,000. 
 
This had involved a lot of work in a short period of time to meet the 
required timescales, which had meant that there had not been an 
opportunity to consult as widely as Rob would have liked.   
 
The award had to be Match Funded and this £1.8m project would 
provide an opportunity for all Partners to get involved.  However, a full 
programme plan was required by the end of January 2009.  A project 
manager was needed as soon as possible. 
 
It was explained that the Match Funding could be partly in kind, that is 
officer time, effort, etc.  Individual matches did not have to be 
demonstrated and funding could be matched against money already 
received from elsewhere. 
 
All projects needed to be related to food, health, obesity, etc.  The 
challenge was to get things up and running as soon as possible as the 
project was due to run for three years and the end of the first year was 
already approaching and the money had only just been received. 
 
Martin Seymour said this provided a unique opportunity to promote 
behaviour change in individuals and to also address factors that 
influence, such as environment.  The money would be held by a PCT 
Programme Board and suggestions should be made to them.  The 
preferred option was for money to go to the Moving Thetford Forward 
Board to take the project forward.  The project officer would give regular 
updates. 
 
The Chairman asked that the Project Initiation Document be circulated 
to LSP members and that the project be added to the Performance 
Reporting on the agenda.  

  
76/07 COMMUNITY SAFETY ACCREDITATION SCHEME   
  
 Mike Green gave a short presentation to explain the role of the 

Community Safety Accreditation Scheme which had been set up to 
reduce crime and disorder.  It enabled specifically chosen powers to be 
given to people to enhance their normal working life.   
 
Powers were only passed to individuals who had received training and 
been thoroughly checked.  This process usually took three to six 
months.  Once this had been completed individuals were required to 
display the nationally recognised accredited person badge and have the 
logo on their ID cards.   
 
Powers were only to be used as a tool after two attempts at education 
(to change behaviour) had failed. 
 
The main organisations that had benefitted from these powers were 
those with housing officers and wardens and private sector security 
companies.   Accreditation gave the individual increased effectiveness 
and also improved the flow of information between organisations and 
Norfolk Constabulary. 

 

5



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

6 

 Action 
By 

 
 
Accredited persons were allowed to direct traffic and this led to 
improvements in traffic flow and reduced road rage incidents. 
 
A member asked if this could be relevant to Town and Parish Councils 
but it was pointed out that all accredited persons had to have an 
employment contract.  
 
The Chairman suggested that Mike should be invited to attend the next 
Breckland Council Town and Parish Council Forum.  

  
77/07 PERFORMANCE REPORTING   
  

 (a) Pride in Breckland Project    

   
 Rob Walker reported that he hoped to have a demo of the TEN 

performance system up-and-running by the time of the next meeting.  
There was still a long way to go and progress had been slow. 
 

- The Community Rangers Scheme:  New life was being 
breathed into this.  There were now 65 Rangers and meetings 
had been re-convened to discuss future programmes of work.  
The Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service had put in £15,000 to 
have Rangers check on isolated older people; helping with the 
installation of smoke detectors etc.   A training programme 
would be rolled out over the coming months. 

 
- Clean up Programmes:  These were being undertaken in the 

Watton/Griston/Yaxham area and there was a “Breckland Blitz 
Spring Clean” planned for next year.  The idea was to build up 
momentum, with plenty of marketing and positive PR, which 
would then help generate more enthusiasm for this sort of 
project. 

 
The Pride in Breckland Project Board would hold a meeting early in 
2009.  There was a need to build up momentum and to generate more 
positive PR.  A series of community-organised events would take 
place in the New Year.  The Council had the resources and the 
equipment, but the key question was how to make things happen.  
There was a lot more to be done by community groups; town and 
parish councils; schools, etc.     
 
The Chairman challenged the Partners to feed back projects and said 
there was a need to make things happen.  He would invite the Pride 
Coordinator to address the next LSP meeting to report on what had 
happened and what was planned. 
 
It was noted that nominations for the Pride in Breckland awards were 
particularly needed for the ‘Child of Courage’ and ‘Safer Breckland’ 
categories.  

 

  

 (b) Health and Wellbeing Project    

   
 Martin Seymour said that the key feature had been the Thetford  

6



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

7 

 Action 
By 

 
Healthy Town status, but now attention was turning to the falls 
prevention project.  This had been delayed due to discussions with 
the PCT concerning merging the falls project with another more 
general project.  This had taken time – but would result in a better 
outcome.  The Falls Co-ordinator was now in post and was being 
trained.  He would recruit six volunteers who would act as Health 
Connectors and visit people in their homes or at places where they 
gathered, to give advice about issues affecting falls, such as medicine 
management and footwear. 
 
The Chairman asked for a report for the next meeting. 
 
On a positive note, Martin reported that the Breckland Experience at 
Work project had been shortlisted and highly commended in the 
Social Marketing Category at the Health Service Journal 2008 
awards.  

  

 (c) Economic Prosperity Project    

   
 Rob Walker explained that this project had three elements: 

 
Grants – Launched at the end of September - there had been 16 
enquiries to date and four grants awarded totalling £2,000.  PR would 
be arranged once more grants had been made. 
 
Training – Poultec would carry out this training which would be IT 
related to small businesses.  A package of one-to-one sessions and 
short courses had been arranged starting early in 2009. 
 
ESOL – This English language training for migrant workers would be 
managed by Breckland Learning Communities.  Rob was writing a 
very basic tender to provide transparency.  This training would 
commence early 2009.  

 

  
78/07 BUDGET   
  
 There was £40,000 uncommitted in the LSP budget.   

 
Traditionally about £70,000 in second homes Council Tax was received 
each year.  It remained unclear whether this would be available next 
year and it was considered prudent to assume that it would not be 
forthcoming.  

 

  
79/07 ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDAS   
  
 Reports on the following were required for the next meeting: 

 

• Pride in Breckland 

• Health & Wellbeing 

• Economic Prosperity 

• ‘3D’ project paper 

• Cohesion Pilot 

• Outline report from Climate Change sub-group 
 

 
 

Rob Walker 

Martin Seymour 

Mark Stanton 

Mark Fretwell 

Rob Walker 

Sarah Bruton 

7



Local Strategic Partnership Board 
11 December 2008 

 
 

8 

 Action 
By 

 
Thetford Healthy Town updates to be included under Performance 
Reporting. 
 
A member asked that at the February or May meeting a report on 
counter-terrorism should be made to the group.  

  
80/07 FUTURE MEETINGS   
  
 The next meeting would be on Thursday 19 February 2009 at 2.00pm in 

the Anglia Room, Committee Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham. 
 
Dates for future meetings were noted.  

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 4.10 pm 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

8



Place-Shaping

Sustainable Community Strategy and
Local Development Framework

……delivering in a planned way

M
in

u
te

 Ite
m

 6
9

19



Introduction

• Update on the LDF

• The growth strategy to 2026 (…and 

beyond…..?)

• Supporting growth in Breckland.  Can 

we deliver sustainable communities?

2
1
0



Vision and Strategy

31
1



Spatial Strategy to 2026
• Provides for 11,000 new homes and at 

least 6,000 new jobs

• Thetford – 6,000 homes and 5,000 new 

jobs

• Attleborough – 4,000 new homes and 

2,000 new jobs 

• Dereham – 600 new homes & 1,800 new 

jobs

•

• Swaffham– 250 new homes & 650 new 

jobs

• Watton – 300 new homes & 250 new jobs 

• Snetterton – 1,500 new jobs

4
1
2



Spatial Strategy
Rural Areas:

• 14 Local Service Centre Villages 

identified

• 4 promoted for growth

• Harling – 50 houses

• Narborough – 50 houses

• Shipdham – 100 houses

• Swanton Morley - 50

Other LSCs include:

Banham, Great Ellingham, Litcham, 

Mattishall, Necton, Mundford, 

Narborough, Weeting, North Elmham, 

Saham Toney , Old Buckenham

51
3



Spatial Strategy
Development in the villages will consist of:

• Small-scale development and re-use of 

rural buildings:

• Affordable housing schemes on edges of 

villages to meet local needs (exception 

sites): rented and shared ownership 

housing to meet local needs in perpetuity 

• Allow for business uses where the road, 

infrastructure and environment allows for 

it (re-use of buildings, farm diversification)

• Estimation that 3,000 houses will come 

forward on windfall sites over the LDF 

period

6
1
4



A11: Focus for Growth
Thetford

- National Growth Point 

- £6million awarded to accelerate 

housing delivery

- Healthy Town Status (£900,000) 

Attleborough

- Proposed doubling of the town, 2000 new jobs, a link 
road, new schools and medical facilities

Snetterton

- Strategic Employment Area 

- > 20 ha of new employment land

71
5



Consistency

8
1
6



Harling
This is the currently agreed LDF programme:

Core Strategy & Policies Document

Publication period – 5th January – 13th February

Submission – end of March 

Examination – July 2009 

Inspectors Report – November 2009

Adoption – February 2010

Site Specifics Document

Issues and Options on additional sites – Feb/April 2009

Preferred Sites – October 2009 

LDF - Next Steps

91
7



Infrastructure to deliver Growth

• Additional Health Care

• Additional Primary Schools

• Additional High School Capacity

• Extensions to Sewerage Works – Dereham and 
Attleborough; post 2016 Thetford

• Transport: public transport, southern link road 
for Attleborough, dualling the A11

• Electricity: particularly along A11 corridor 

• Recreation & children’s play areas

1
0

1
8



Delivering Growth 

Step 1: Injecting Certainty

Pre-requisite for investment decisions?

Which sites will come forward and when? 

What Infrastructure is essential to deliver the sites and 

establish or augment sustainable communities?

Realism of front-loading infrastructure delivery? 

Are there exemplar projects in Breckland?

1
1

1
9



Delivering Growth 

Establishing Funding - who is the banker?

Capital Investment Programmes

Regional Infrastructure Funding 

Section 106 agreements 

Tariffs

Community Infrastructure Levy

Business Rate Supplement

Private Investment 

1
2

2
0



Delivering Growth 

Implementation – who is the ringmaster?

Integrated Development Programmes (IDPs)

Relationship between LAA and IDP?

Thematic Spatial Packages – Thetford / Attleborough 

Co-ordination of funds – public and private 

Management of assets / holdings 

1
3

2
1



Double Vision

LDF Vision……………….

“By 2026, Breckland’s settlements and wider rural area will have

developed as a dynamic, prosperous and self-sustaining community

through the delivery of sustainable housing and employment growth,

supported by necessary facilities, services and infrastructure.”

This growth needs to fit in the context of making 

“Breckland a place to be proud of, in which people choose to live and work”

How will we all make this happen? 

1
4

2
2



Climate Change Agenda

Local Strategic Partnership

Sarah Bruton

Environmental Services Manager

Breckland Council

2
3



Aims

• To update you on the Councils actions to date

• To provide a summary of the new national 

indicators for climate change

• To discuss how the LSP can work together to 

achieve our aims and objectives for climate 

change

2
4



Norfolk LAA Theme Priority 

Mitigate and adapt to the impacts of climate change in the county

Setting the scene

Sustainable Community Strategy

Minimise the impact of Climate Change by all those living and working in the 

district

Role for the Strategic partnership

Norfolk Climate change strategy

Individual organisations environment strategies

2
5



Key drivers - National Indicators

NI 185 

Percentage C02 reduction from LA Operations

NI 186 

Per capita CO2 emissions in the LA area

NI188

Planning to adapt to Climate Change

2
6



National Indicators

NI 185 

Percentage C02 reduction from LA Operations

Aim – to measure the progress of LA’s in reducing C02 emissions from

analysis of energy and fuel use in their relevant buildings and transport

This includes:

• All Council offices, including contact centres

• Contractors who undertake work on our behalf

2
7



National Indicators

NI 186 – Per capita CO2 emissions in the LA area

This indicator relies on centrally produced statistics (DEFRA) to measure

end user CO2 emissions in the local area from:

• Business and Public Sector

• Domestic housing

• Road transport

Breckland’s Target – 3.4% reduction

• Needs a joined up approach via Norfolk Climate Change Group

• ALL your actions count towards reducing CO2 for this NI

• Measurability for this indicator is a list of actions from all partners (events/projects)

2
8



National Indicators

NI188 Planning to adapt to Climate Change

Managed by NCC

Aim – to embed the management of climate risks and opportunities 

across all levels of services, plans and estates.

• Partnership working essential

5 levels

• 0 - Pulling together sources of risk assessment and adaptation related 
planning

• 5 – Expect LAA and LSP partners to be actively implementing the actions in 
their action plan 

2
9



The role of the LSP

• Breckland LSP Environment Strategy?

• Partnership project?

• Environment working group?

3
0



Project Ideas

• Eco House – visitor attraction

• An eco garden residents - involved from the outset in creating not only a 
functioning and productive garden, but also a template which could be 
copied by others 

• Give a Community building such as a village hall an eco-makeover 

• An entire eco village! Ashill recently came 3rd in the Energy Saving Trust’s 
‘Green Village’ competition

3
1



In conclusion 

• What are partners doing already?

• How can we move forward with this 

agenda?3
2



 
Pride Project Board 

 
4th February 2009 

 
Report of Mike Onassis, Pride Coordinator 

Breckland Council 
 
 

Pride in Breckland Campaign 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To  update the LSP Board Members of the previous and current activity of the Pride 
campaign. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 It is recommended that the LSP Board: 
 
2.1 Note [for information & planning] the contents of this report. 
 

 

3. Information and Options 

3.1 Background 

This campaign is designed to publicise Breckland Council’s & the LSP’s work to 
enhance and protect the environment and promote Pride in Breckland.  The campaign 
is intended to work across the Council linking the work of environmental services, 
community, crime reduction and other services to create a real sense of civic pride; 
and to highlight the Council’s & LSP’s work as a place shaper in line with the recent 
local government white paper. By focusing on services and access to services we 
also aim to increase satisfaction. Research shows that there is a strong relationship 
between how well people feel we keep them informed about the services we provide 
and how satisfied they are with us. 

3.2 Communication Objectives 

• To create pride in Breckland  

• To reduce litter – especially cigarette litter 

• To get people to take pride in their area and take responsibility for keeping it clean 
and green 

• To highlight the work of the Environmental Services team 

• To publicise the councils’ work in enhancing and protecting the environment 

• To reward staff for their efforts 

• To promote green practices to the local community and encourage wider adoption of 
an environmentally friendly lifestyle. 

• To create cleaner and Safer neighbourhoods 

• To raise awareness on service improvements 

• To highlight the value for money residents receive 

• To encourage take-up of online services 

• To improve Breckland Council’s and the LSP’s reputation 

• To increase satisfaction with Breckland Council and LSP. 

 

Agenda Item 7a

33



3.3 Key Messages 

 

• Let’s work together to keep Breckland beautiful. (Cleaner, Safer, Greener) 

• We’ve all started well and thanks to you Breckland is a place to be proud of. On top of 
that, you still pay the lowest council tax in the UK and we provide a service that is 
second to none. Help us to keep Breckland beautiful. 

• Do your bit by reporting fly-tippers, abandoned vehicles and graffiti on 01362 656878 
and, of course, by disposing of your litter carefully. 

• Many Breckland Council Services are now available online. 

3.4 Activity in 2007 

The “Pride in Breckland” project started in 2008 under the direction of the Local 
Strategic Partnership. In 2007 Breckland Council had similar activities and events 
under its own “Pride” agenda which are listed below for background information 

• Sep-Oct 2007 issue of Breckland Voice centrespread: focus on services 
 

• A-Z of services with focus on online access to services 
 

• Pride in Breckland logo 
 

• Update corporate email signatures in October 2007 
 

• Involvement in national Pride of Place campaign in October 2007 – local PR 
 

• Pride in Breckland postcards to support Pride of Place campaign and drive online 
activity from October 2007 – October 2008  

 

• Pride in Breckland edition of Voice Nov-Dec 2007 
 

• Breckland Voice ‘Why I’m proud of Breckland’ reader competition for family to appear 
on front cover runs in Nov-Dec issue 

 

• Pride in Breckland centrespread in Jan-Feb 2008 and March 2008 editions of 
Breckland Voice (Wonders of Breckland series) 

 

• New Serco van signage in November 2007 
 

• Green Christmas Voice insert with recycling tips and Christmas refuse collections 
 

• Poster campaign in November and December in supermarkets in each of the market 
towns focusing on clean and green 

 

• Bus backs on clean and green 
 

• Radio advertising highlighting pride campaign 
 

• Poster campaign in February and March 2008 in supermarkets in each of the market 
towns focusing on services and value for money (Breckland Values) 

 

• April 2008 staff achievement awards 
 

• A quarterly campaign update report is submitted to the Executive Board 
 

 
 
 
 

34



3.5     Activity in 2008 

• Breckland art competition with young people (two age groups) to design Serco 
van signage with ‘Pride’ theme 

 

• April 2008 – cigarette litter bins and poster campaign with Encams 
 

• Experience the Spirit of Brazil -  A successful music event was held at the Carnegie 
Rooms in Thetford on 11th July with entertainment from a Brazilian (Rio based) 
music group. 

 

• Pride in Breckland launch events- The Pride in Breckland campaign was 
successfully launched in four towns across the district via the Pride in Breckland 
Marquee events, with the final event taking place on Saturday 16th August in 
Swaffham. 

 

• Thetford - Weed-clearing and litter-picking in area following launch events. 
 

• Griston Pride day - Griston Community Committee organised a general village clean 
up including litter picking and verge clearing on Sunday 24th August 2008.   

 

• Watton Pride day - Saturday August 23rd was designated Wayland Pride Day in 
support of the Pride in Breckland campaign. On that day the Wayland Youth Council 
organised a clean-up campaign for the town.  

 

• A-Z of services 
 

• BBC Breathing Places - Pride in Breckland is working with the BBC to promote the 
Breathing Places campaign and encourage the local community to make Breckland 
a better place for nature and for people. 

  

• Poppy’s Wood, North Tuddenham – Privately owned wood with public access. 
After user complaints negotiated with owner to re-surface access road to car park. 

 

• Community Ranger/Fire Service project – start of pilot (in November)to train a 
Ranger to visit, upon request of residents, homes to give Fire Safety Advice and 
fit free smoke alarms. Project launch will be in Jan/Feb 2009. 

3.5 Activity in 2009 

• Mattishall – stile on public footpath – after a complaint from the public worked with 
N.C.C (footpaths) to effect repairs. 

 

• East Harling recreation ground – supported Attleborough SNT in restorative 
justice activity where alleged offenders were supervised in the over painting of 
their previous handiwork. 

 

• Queen Mother’s gardens – Dereham. Initial meetings and discussions with town 
council and Serco for replanting of this once fine formal garden in town centre 
location. Work is scheduled for completion end February 2009. 

 

• Bliss Project - An initiative from Economic Development to run as a bolt-on to the 
Pride in Breckland Awards to encourage public support for small retail business in 
the district. Public stalls attended by council officers will locate in central locations 
in the 5 market towns in February to engage and enlist public voting of their 
chosen outlet. Project will be supported by media promotion.  

            Awards will go to: 
1. Best outlet for each Town. 
2. Best rural outlet. 
3. Best migrant community outlet. 

35



3.6        Options 

3.6. 1. To note (for information & planning) the contents of this report 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

36



 

 

 

 

Delivering the Partnership’s Ambitions: 

Pride in Breckland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

3
7



PRIDE IN BRECKLAND SERVICE PLAN  
 
 

Lead Agency: 
 

Breckland Council Lead Officer: Mark Stokes 

Partner Involvement (Project Board Membership): 
 

Breckland Council, Norfolk Constabulary, Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service, NHS Norfolk, 
voluntary/community sector, Norfolk County Council 
 

 

No Action Lead Agency Q1 Milestone Q2 Milestone Q3 Milestone Q4 Milestone Measureable 
Outcome 

1 Pride in Breckland Project Board Breckland 
Council  
[All partners] 

• Project Board 
established 

• Service Plan 
produced 

• Service Plan 
set-up on TEN 

• 1 meeting held • 1 meeting held • 1 meeting held 

• Annual review 
of performance 
undertaken 

• 4 Project Board 
meetings held 

• 4 performance 
reports to LSP Board 

• Annual review 
completed 

 

2 Pride Coordinator Breckland 
Council 

• Temporary 
worker 
employed 

 • Pride 
Coordinator 
recruited 

 

 • Pride Coordinator 
recruited 

3 Launch Breckland 
Council 
[All partners] 
 

 • Launch events 
held in 5 towns 

  • 5 launch events held 

4 PR and Marketing Breckland 
Council 

• PR Brief 
produced 

• Website 
launched 

• Logo created 

• Promotional 
materials 
produced 

• 3 positive 
press releases 

• 3 positive 
press releases 

• 500 hits on website 

• 6 positive ‘pride’ 
press releases 

 

Breckland Partnership Strategic Priority: 
 

Safer and Stronger Communities 

Project Title: Pride in Breckland 

Baseline Information: 
 

In Breckland, 62.8% of people feel the people from different backgrounds get on well together.  National average is 79%.  
Breckland 13 worst local authority in UK 
 

3
8



 

5 Pride in Breckland Awards 2009 
 

Breckland 
Council 

 • Project Plan 
produced 

• Awards 
launched 

 

• Awards held • 100 nominations 
received 

6 Pride Line 
 

Breckland 
Council 

 • New Pride line 
launched 

• Publicity 
campaign 
undertaken 

 • Performance 
review 
undertaken 

• 200 calls received to 
Pride line resulting in 
100 new actions  

7 Experience the Spirit of Brazil 
 

Norwich and 
Norfolk 
Community Arts 
 

 • Thetford event 
held 

  • 300 participants at 
event 

8 Quick wins – Environmental projects 
 

Dereham TC 
North Pickenham 
PC 
 

 • Dereham 
project 
delivered 

• North 
Pickenham 
project 
delivered 

 

  • 2 quick win projects 
delivered by end of 
Q2 

9 Community Clean-up scheme 
 

Breckland 
Council 
 

 • Scheme 
launched 

• 4 ‘marquee’ 
events held 

• 6 community 
clean-up 
events 

• 4 ‘marquee’ 
events held 

• 6 community 
clean-up 
events 

• 8 ‘marquee’ events 
held 

• 12 community clean-
up events 

10 Small grants programme 
 

Breckland 
Council 
 

 • Programme 
launched 

• 10 grants 
made 

• 10 grants 
made 

• 20 grants made 

11 Community Rangers 
 

Breckland 
Council 
Voluntary Norfolk 
 

 • Review 
Community 
Rangers 
programme 

 

• Promote 
Community 
Rangers 

• 10 new 
Community 
Rangers 
signed-up 

• 10 new Community 
Rangers signed-up 

12 Youth Council 
 

Breckland 
Council 
Solent Theatre 
Company 
 

 • Participatory 
theatre event 
held with 
Youth Council 

  • Event held with 25 
members of 
Breckland Youth 
Council 

 

13 Neighbourhood Charter Breckland 
Council 
All Partners 
 

• Charter drafted   • Charter 
adopted 

• Neighbourhood 
Charter adopted 

14 Criminal Damage (inc graffiti) clean-up 
 

Norfolk 
Constabulary 

   • 1 event held in 
East Harling 

• 5 suspects involved. 

3
9



15 Bliss Project  
 
(A project to raise standards and 
awareness of small businesses) 

Breckland 
Council 

  
 

 • Promotion of 
awards to retail 
outlets and the 
public. 

• Awards given 
 

• 30 nominations 

16 Focus in Breckland Breckland 
Council 

 • Cameras 
distributed to 
members 

• 5 Cameras 
returned 

• All issues 
resolved 

•  

17 Queen Mother’s Garden - Dereham Breckland 
Council 
Dereham Town 
Council 
Serco 

  • Preparatory 
meetings and 
scheme 
finance agreed 

• Target 
completion end 
February 

• Involvement of 1 
local school and 
“The Gallery”  

18 Swaffham Family Action Group 
(Bird box project) 

Breckland 
Council 
 

   • event 
programmed 
for 19/02/09 

• Production of 100 
bird boxes for 
distribution to 
schools and families 

19 Swaffham Family Action Group 
(Pick & Eat event – community clean-
up) 

Breckland 
Council 
 

   • event 
programmed 
for 20/02/09 

• 20 volunteers 
engaged in activity 

20 Dereham – Moorgate Allotments Childrens 
Services 
Breckland 
Council 
Safer 
Neighbourhood 
Team 
 

   • Target 
completion 
March 

• 20 youths engaged 
in the project. 

21 Croxton Parish Council 
Tree-planting  

Breckland 
Council 

   • Event date 
15/02/09 

• Tree planted  

• press release. 

22 Crucial Crew Fire Service 
Breckland 
Council 

   • Event date 9
th
 

-13
th
 March 

• 1000 children 
engaged. 

23 Mattishall – stile on public footpath N.C.C 
Breckland 
Council 

   • Stile repaired 
28/02/09 

• Complainant 
satisfied  

24 Swaffham Library – clearance and 
resurfacing of unmaintained plot. 

Breckland 
Council 

   • Target 
completion end 
February 

• Public satisfaction 

25 Thetford – Mundford Road underpass 
(removal of graffiti)(Emotional links to 
Rosemary Musker School) 

N.C.C 
Breckland 
Council 

   • Target 
completion end 
February 

• School-children 
satisfaction. 

26 Thetford River Corridor Project 
(Ground Force Day) 

Breckland 
Council 

   • Target event 
by end of 

• 15 volunteers 
involved in project. 

4
0



Thetford 
Volunteers 
 

March 

27 “Cut it Out” play presentation to year 7/8 
school children 
 

Breckland 
Council 
 

  • Adaption of 
play 
commissioned 

• Target date 
end of March 

• 150 children 
involved 

28 Highways (A11/A47) siting of litter bins Breckland 
Council 
CPRE 

   • Meetings to 
choose sites 
and agree 
funding level. 

• Target 
installation 
date April 
2009 

• Quantifiable 
reduction in litter in 
laybys. 

29 Dereham – Pride in Youth Arts Breckland 
Council 
 

   • Celebratory 
event 24

th
 

March  

• 20 youth arts 
nominations 

 
2009/10 

 
No Action Lead Agency Q1 Milestone Q2 Milestone Q3 Milestone Q4 Milestone Measureable 

Outcome 

30 Breckland Blitz 
(A district – wide spring clean) 

Breckland 
Council  
Community 
Volunteers 

• Target date 
month of April 

   • 20 community 
clean-ups 

• Events in each of 
the market towns. 

31 National Volunteer week 
(1

st
 – 7

th
 July 

Breckland 
Council 
Community 
Volunteers 

•  Pre-event 
promotion to 
media 

• Celebratory 
events 

  • Increase of 25 
volunteer activity. 

32 Launch of Youth Rangers Breckland 
Council 

 • Promotion to 
youth through 
youth council 

• Launch of 
event 

 • 30 rangers involved 

33 Plant a tree/bulbs Breckland 
Council 

 • Advertising of 
promotion 

• Engagement 
with the public 
and 
distribution of 
trees/bulbs 

 • 2000 trees 
dispersed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4
1



Risk Management 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Risk Score 

No 
 

Risk Description 
 

Accountability 

Im
p
a
c
t 

L
ik

e
li
h
o
o
d
 

T
o
ta

l 
S
c
o
re

 

Potential Consequences Mitigation Plan 
Risk 

review 
date 

1 Partner buy-in not secured Mark Stokes 3 1 3 • Unable to deliver Pride 
in Breckland project 

 

• LSP Board priority 

• Partners agree action plan 

30/09/08 

2 
 

Price Coordinator not recruited Mark Stokes 3 1 3 • Unable to deliver Pride 
in Breckland Project 

 

• Temp worker employed for 
3 months 

 

30/09/08 

All 
 

Poor take-up of awards/grants/events Project Board 3 2 6 • Bad publicity • Undertake thorough PR 
campaign in variety of local 
media. 

• 1-2-1 visits with key 
organisations to promote 
events, etc. 

• Get backing of EDP 
 

30/11/08 

All 
 

Excellent take-up of awards/grants/events Project Board 3 2 6 • Unmet expectations / 
aspirations 

• Bad publicity 
 

• Seek to run additional 
events 

• Seek to commit extra 
partner resource to project 

 

30/11/08 

  
 

       

  
 

       

  

 

       

  

 

       

4
2



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

 

If you have indicated there is a negative impact on any group, is that impact:  
 
Legal?   YES  NO  
Intended?   YES  NO  
 
Level of impact?  HIGH  LOW  
 
If the negative impact is potentially discriminatory and not intended and/or of high impact you must complete a full EQIA.  
 
How would you minimise or remove any negative impact that is of low significance?   

 

Population Group Population Sub-Group 
 

Positive Impact Negative Impact Reason 

White X   
Black or Black British X   
Asian or Asian British X   
People of Mixed Race X   
Irish X   

Race 

Migrant Workers X   
Male X  Increased sense of pride and belonging 

amongst all communities 

Female X   

Gender 

Transgender X   
Disability Physical/Learning/Mental X   
Sexual Orientation Lesbian/Gay/Bisexual X   
Belief Faith Groups X   

Young People X   Age 

Older People X   
Other Groups     

 

4
3



 

SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL  
 
Sustainability Objective Positive Impact Negative Impact No Impact 

Minimise the irreversible loss of undeveloped land and productive agricultural holdings   X 

Limit water consumption to the capacity of natural processes and storage systems    X 

Reduce contributions to climate change X   

Minimise waste production and support the recycling of waste  X   

To avoid, reduce and manage flood risk     X 

Protect, conserve, enhance and expand bio-diversity  X   

Maintain, enhance and preserve the distinctiveness and diversity of landscape and 
townscape character  

X   

Conserve, and where appropriate, enhance the historic environment  X   

Improve the health and wellbeing of the population  X   

Reduce and prevent crime, and prevent the fear of crime    X 

Improve the quality and quantity of publicly accessible open space  X   

Improve the quality, range and accessibility of essential services and facilities    X 

Redress inequalities related to age, gender, disability, race, faith, location and income   X 

Ensure all groups have access to affordable, decent and appropriate housing    X 

Increase the vitality and viability of existing town centres    X 

Help people gain access to satisfying work appropriate to their skills, potential and place 
of residence 

  X 

Improve the efficiency, competitiveness and adaptability of the local economy    X 

 

If you have indicated that your project has a positive impact on one or more of the Sustainability Objectives, please explain how:   

 

 

 

 

If you have indicated that your project has a negative impact on one or more of the Sustainability Objectives, please explain how and what will 
be undertaken to mitigate the impact:   

 

 

Improve surroundings through a range of community and partner led projects aimed at improving local ‘environment’. 

 

4
4



Pride Project Group
Minutes

Date: 4 February 2009

Location: Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Present: Mark Stokes – Breckland Council
Mark Fretwell – Breckland Council
Rob Walker – Breckland Council
Mike Onassis– Breckland Council
Sarah Bruton – Breckland Council
Stephen Askew – Elected Member
Claire Bowes – Elected Member
Shirley Matthews – Norfolk Assoc. Of Town & Parish Councils
Lisa Hilton – Breckland Council
Becky Jefcoate – Breckland Council
George Hayes – Dereham Area Partnership
Dennis Tallon –  Iceni Partnership
Dave Hatherly – Wayland Radio
Paul Elliot – Norfolk County Council
Alan Flack –  Keystone Trust
Paul Seaman – Norfolk Fire Service
Jan Godfrey – Wayland Partnership
Linda Rogers –  Voluntary Norfolk
Val Jenkins – Police Authority
Peter Walsh – Norfolk Police
Elaine Rivett – Breckland Council

Item   Notes Action

1. Welcome, Introduction and Apologies

1.1 Those attending introduced themselves and were welcomed 
to the first meeting of the Pride in Breckland Project Group.  
Apologies for absence were received from Lucy Walker, 
Andrew Egerton-Smith, Mike Austin, Debbie Bartlett, Trevor 
Holden, Katie Elliott, Laura Apps-Green, Martin Seymour, Ian 
Clarke, John Dixon & Neil Stott

2. Pride Project - Overview

2.1 At the last LSP Board meeting members challenged what 
was being delivered in terms of the Pride Project, particularly 
in the knowledge that there is £30/£35,000 per year to spend 
on Pride related projects. 

Mark Stokes emphasised the need for the group to bring 
forward any new community projects, with funding available it 
is important to develop a forward plan of activity and 

45



Item   Notes Action

outcomes to demonstrate community benefit.

3. Pride Project – Update

3.1 Mike Onassis referred to the Pride in Breckland campaign 
document.  Pride was launched in 2008.  Since joining 
Breckland Council in October 2008 Mike has spent his time 
connecting with partners and groups.  His role is about 
delivery and connecting with communities.  

3.2 To promote and raise awareness to Pride in the district, the 
Council is intending to include information in 
January/February Voice, also advertisements in the local 
press.

3.3 Paul Seaman asked if there was any funding available 
towards a bonfire night in Thetford.  Paul explained about 
Operation Dampened Spirits and said that the majority of 
people in Thetford would favour an organised display.

Paul Seaman said that Thetford Town Council will not allow 
the Fire Service or other group to run the display; it had to be 
a professional organisation.

Mike informed the group that approximately £15,000 was 
needed for a professional firework display, fences etc.  

Whilst Pride has pledged £2,000, there is a need for financial 
support to underwrite the event, the Town Council have been 
approached including local businesses in terms of funding 
however no formal response has been received to date.

Mark Stokes stated that in terms of tackling anti-social 
behaviour, particularly fly tipping this is a commendable 
approach.  This was supported by Jan Godfrey however 
commented that all five market towns would be grateful for 
some support. 

Mark Stokes asked Mike Onassis to investigate the project 
further including a more district wide approach including 
costings 

The Board agreed to set up a sub group with key 
stakeholders in March for a decision in May rather than wait 
until April meeting.

Mike
Onassis/

Mark Fretwell

3.4 Mike Onassis discussed the Community Rangers.  There are 
over 60 volunteers.

Mark Stokes asked whether the Rangers are supported and 
utilised to the full, the original Rangers signed up for different 
role, primarily a reporting brief, therefore is challenged 
whether there was greater opportunity to widen their role and 
responsibilities.

The Board agreed that whilst the Rangers provide a valuable 
role in their respective communities, the roles have changed 

Mike
Onassis

46



Item   Notes Action

and there is a need to refresh the approach with the aim to 
undertake a recruitment drive, including joining up with 
groups who already manage volunteers and have more 
experience.  Mike Onassis to co-ordinate approach with our 
partners and bring forward an action plan to the next meeting

Furthermore, the Council will focus on Youth Rangers from 
September 2009 to integrate and improve links between 
Rangers.

Val Jenkins suggested Rangers connecting with Homewatch 
as the Rangers are obviously the sort of people who want to 
help.  Mike Onassis has already spoken to Colin Hodge and 
this link has been recognised.

Mike
Onassis

Dave Hatherly pointed out that the most successful way to 
communicate with people is through village magazines.  
Highlight the Rangers and put success stories into village 
magazine and this could encourage new recruits.

Lisa Hilton 

4. Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter

4.1 Mark Stokes stated that the Council along with its partners 

adopted the Charter as part of its wider Pride in Breckland 

Campaign in taking a proactive approach to tackling clean, 
safe and green issues.

The Charter was developed in consultation with members of 
our local community and is designed to strengthen local 
democracy and empower people to have their say in the 
services that affect their quality of life, and develop a sense of 
Pride in the district. 

ENCAMS, have worked alongside the Council and Peddars 
Way, consulting with local residents and agencies to jointly 
develop the Charter to tackle environmental issues. ENCAMS 
fully endorse the Charter as one of the first of its kind in the 
Country, and will continue to work with the Council to review 
and improve its content as needs and expectations change.  

Local feedback was clear in terms of their requirements:

Identified the main services that affect their everyday life

The need for a clear understanding on who is responsible 
for each service

What standards can people expect and contact numbers 
to avoid unnecessary confusion.  

Our partners including Peddars Way, other housing 
associations with homes in Breckland, Norfolk Police, Norfolk 
Fire & Rescue Service, Norfolk County Council and other 
Service providers are all committed to the Charter which sets 
out what our residents can expect from our services.

All partners have pledged to take ownership and 
responsibility to the successful delivery of the Charter, to be 
regularly reviewed in close

Mark Stokes

The first two pages of the Charter have been printed in 
Breckland Voice.  The Charter is also available on the 

47



Item   Notes Action

website.

5. BLISS

5.1 Becky Jefcoate explained BLISS to the group.  It is an idea to 
raise needs of local independent retailers and encourage 
shoppers to consider alternatives.  All shops participating will 
receive a sign up pack and everyone taking part will be 
featured in Breckland Voice in May.  Retailers will have to 
make statement as to why shoppers should vote for them.  
Overall winners will be recognised at the Pride Awards in 
March.

Lisa Hilton advised publicity went out yesterday and EDP are 
running their own campaign.  Concerned that people might tie 
the two together.

6. Pride Awards

6.1 Rob Walker updated the group on the Pride Awards.  Friday 
was the closing date for nominations.  175 nominations have 
been received with some also to be collected from Thetford.

The event is to be held on 20th March at Lyndford Hall.  The 
first set of invitations went out this week.  There is capacity 
for 200 people.

Prior to the awards there is Breckland’s Got Talent and 
Young Performer of the Year.  Auditions being held on 25th

February at the Memorial Hall, Dereham.  Winners will be 
performing halfway through the Pride Awards ceremony.

Film of the nominees will be done to be played on the 
evening during the nominations.

Dress is to be black tie or formal.

7. Fire & Rescue Service

7.1 Paul Seaman advised the group that fire deaths in Norfolk are 
higher than the national average.  Most affected are older 
people.  The district has higher rate of over 65s.

Currently offering free home safety advice and free fitting of 
smoke alarms.  There is not a massive budget for this so 
looking to use Community Rangers.  It is important to target 
the right people and often Rangers know the people in 
community in need.  Pilot is underway in Attleborough.  A 
press release is due out shortly.  

Future funding is there but looking at other voluntary 
organisations to get involved.  George Hayes offered services 
of PACT particularly for the Breckland area.

Peter Walsh suggested perhaps a chain could be fitted at the 
same time plus door sticker.

Dave Hatherly advised publicity needed and suggested 

48



Item   Notes Action

advertising on Look East and Radio Norfolk as the older 
people listen to these.  Dave offered his help if needed.

8. Pride Project – Forward Plan

8.1  Mike Onassis discussed the forward plan document which 
will be emailed to the group after the meeting.

Mike Onassis

8.2 Val Jenkins asked if there was any way that Pride could take 
an active role in improving the Roundham Heath lay-by.  The 
lay-by attracts a whole range of anti social behaviour and that 
it is a blight on the area and is not safe.  Either make it visible 
from road or take the sign down so people stop taking 
children there.

Mark Stokes suggested arranging an initial meeting with the 
responsible stakeholders to establish ownership and potential 
actions. Val Jenkins and Mark Stokes to help Mike Onassis 
with agencies and contacts to investigate options for 
improvement

Mike
Onassis/Mark 

Stokes/Val
Jenkins

9. Any Other Business

9.1 Rob Walker informed the group that there will be a Youth 
Council at the end of the week.  It would be nice to give them 
a small budget to do something around Pride – approximately 
£1000. Paul Seaman agreed this was a good idea but feared 
£1000 would not be enough.  

Jan Godfrey also agreed this was a good idea but pointed out 
it was amazing what the Youth Council had achieved with no 
budget.  There is a danger of giving them too much and not 
challenging them.  They should be encouraged to work hard 
for the money.  Paul Seaman suggested incentive of giving 
them money and Youth Council finding Match Funding.

The Board agreed to establishing a process/protocol for 
future support and funding to bring back to the next meeting 
for approval.

Mike
Onassis

9.3 Mark Fretwell refreshed the Group of the objectives of the 
meetings.  This is the first meeting of the year and collectively 
trying to deliver the Sustainable Communities Strategy.  Also 
looking at

Local project ideas

Resources

Financial input

Mark encouraged people to continue to attend and support 
the group and thanked them for coming as it was a 
momentous drive forward.

9.4 Rob Walker asked for ideas for projects.

9.5 Sarah Bruton informed the group that a separate 
Environmental Project Group has been set up to focus on 

49



Item   Notes Action

climate change and CO2 emission in the district.  First 
meeting is this afternoon.

9.6 Dennis Tallon spoke about Food Week in Swaffham being 
held in September.  A recipe book is being published.

9.7 Dennis also advised of a footpath in need of cleaning up off 
Theatre Street.

9.8 Rob Walker would like to do something for St Georges Day 
on 23rd April.  Would be a good day to use for a Pride Project.

Sarah Bruton advised that £80,000 available from Norfolk 
Ways to show how to make use of leftovers and suggested 
linking in with Jan’s idea.  Will report about funding at a later 
meeting.

Sarah Bruton

9.10 Peter Walsh suggested Pride in Breckland hessian bags.  
Sarah Bruton said these are already being done.

9.11 Peter Walsh told the group that Respect Zone at Cherry Tree 
Car Park is successful.  Sweets have been produced to hand 
out to pubbers and clubbers as they leave as it is harder to 
shout etc. with a sweet in your mouth.

9.12 Mark Stokes advised the group that a new CCTV system is 
going through the Committee Process and is going to Cabinet 
on 24th February. Mark to give more details at next meeting.

Mark Stokes

9.14 Mark Stokes concluded the meeting and summarised:

Feed projects to Mike Onassis

Fireworks on 5th November – needs to be looked at 
asap to get booked

Feedback on Charter

Community Rangers and Youth Rangers – refresh 
and relaunch

Safety in homes

Looking to refresh SERCO vehicles to promote Pride

Roudham Heath layby

Youth Week

9.15 Mark Fretwell to advise of the date and time of next meeting.

* Please Note: Date of Next Meeting: 8
th

 April 10 -12 

Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham 

Mark Fretwell

Meeting Closed 11.55am 

50



PROJECT DOCUMENTATION 
 
 

Project Initiation Document 
 
 

Thetford: Healthy Town 
 
 

Release:  
V 3.0 

 
  
Date:  

21 January 2009 
 
 

Author(s): 
Rob Walker 

Martin Seymour 
Richard Kay 
Chris Nelson 

 
 

Owner(s): 
Thetford Healthy Town Project Group 

 
 

Client(s): 
NHS Norfolk & Breckland Council 

 
 

Document Number: 
THT 0003 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7d

51



 2 

Contents 
 
 
Project initiation document history  
 

3 

Purpose of the document  
 

3 

Background 
 

4 

Project definition – Thetford Healthy Town Programme 
 

6 

One Programme – A set of integrated projects 10 
 

Constraints and interfaces 
 

15 

Initial business case  
 

17 

Organisational structure 
 

20 

Communication plan 
 

23 

Quality assurance  
 

25 

Monitoring and evaluation 
 

25 

Appendix 1.   Draft Logic Model  
 
Appendix 2.  Structure chart 

27 
 
30 

  

52



 3 

Project Initiation Document History 
 
This document is only valid on the day it was printed. 
 
Revision History 
 
Date of this revision:  21 January 2009 
Date of next revision:  Not anticipated 
 
 

Revision Date Previous Revision Date Summary of Changes 

9 December 2008  First issue 

18 December 2008 9 December 2008 Following DoH Feedback (conf call 
15.12.08) 

21 January 2009 18 December 2008 Following DoH Feedback in email 
08.01.2009 

 
 
Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals.   
A signed copy should be placed in the project files. 
 

Name Signature Title Date of Issue Version 

Martin Seymour  SRO 9 December 2008 V 1.0 

Martin Seymour  SRO 18 December 
2008 

V 2.0 

   21 January 
2009 

V 3.0 

 
 
Distribution 
 
This document has been distributed to: 
 

Name Title Date of Issue Version 

Martin Seymour SRO  V 3.0 

Rob Walker Lead Officer  V 3.0 

Richard Kay Lead Officer  V 3.0 

Chris Nelson Interim Project 
Manager 

 V 3.0 

 
 
 

Purpose of the Document 
 
The purpose of this document is to define the project, to form the basis for its management and the 
assessment of overall success. 

 

53



 4 

Background 
 
In July 2008, a joint bid by Breckland District Council and NHS Norfolk was submitted to the 
Department for Health, for Thetford to become a ‘Healthy Town’.   
 
Thetford – the opportunity 

 
 
As a consequence of its growth policies, in October 2006 Thetford was awarded Growth Point 
status.  This means that the Government will support the town, as it grows, with additional 
resources.  As a response to Thetford receiving national Growth Point status ‘Moving Thetford  
Forward’ (MTF) was established as an informal partnership to steer and deliver this development 
challenge.  MTF has embraced the opportunity to improve health as a fundamental objective and 
will act as overall steer and monitor of the Healthy Town Programme of activities,  

 
The overall vision for ‘Moving Thetford Forward’ states that, “we want Thetford to be known as a 
town where healthy lifestyles are at the heart of what people, communities and businesses do.”  
MTF is supported in the Thetford Health Town programme by a wide range of partners, including 
NHS Norfolk. 
 
Thetford - the response to the Healthy Communities Challenge Fund 
 
As part of the Department of Health’s £30 million Healthy Communities Challenge Fund, local 
areas were invited to come up with innovative ways to make regular physical activity and healthy 
food choices easier for local communities, with the aim of preventing overweight and obesity in 
England. 
 
The guidance stated:  
 

 “The Government is looking to work with a small number of local areas (PCTs and local 
authorities working together) which have a commitment to promoting healthy food choices 
and increased physical activity within their communities. Building on the progress they have 
made to date, these local areas will receive additional funding to test out their ideas on 
what further action needs to happen to make regular physical activity and healthy food 
choices easier for their population. The aim of this initiative is to learn more about how 
environmental factors can help to prevent overweight and obesity in adults and children. 
Therefore, it is vital that applicants put forward creative and original proposals which offer 
the opportunity to learn something new.” 
 
“The Healthy Communities Challenge Fund can provide revenue funding of up to 
approximately £5 million to each local area over a 3-year period, between 2008/09 and 
2010/11.” 

 
Thetford was announced by Secretary of State for Health Alan Johnson on 10 November 2008 as 
one of nine towns which have been awarded ‘Healthy Town’ status, and a share of £30 million 
investment as part of the Government’s programme of work to tackle obesity, to increase physical 
activity and to enable healthier food choices. 
 

Thetford, in Norfolk, has a population today of 21,500.  The town has pockets of severe 
deprivation and has a significant migrant worker population (estimated at more than 25 per cent 
of its total).  Thetford has been identified as a key centre for residential and economic growth in 
the East of England, benefiting from the development of 6,000 new homes between 2001 and 
2021 and a target of 5,000 new jobs over the next fifteen years.  The population of Thetford will 
almost double during this period.  

54



 5 

 
Thetford was selected to participate in this exciting new programme after undergoing a rigorous 
selection process involving 3 stages and will receive £900,000 funding from the Department of 
Health for the period 2008-2011.  This funding will have to be matched locally. The Department of 
Health have committed £90,000 funding for the remainder of this first year (2008/09). 

 
 
Other Partners Include: 

• Breckland Partnership (LSP) 

• British Trust for Conservation Volunteers (BTCV) 

• East Anglia Food Link 

• Keystone Development Trust 

• Moving Thetford Forward 

• Norfolk County Council 

• Suffolk County Council 

• Thetford Town Council 

• 2new horizons Travel 
 
The Programme will contribute to the delivery of national indicators included in the Norfolk Local 
Area Agreement:  

1) Adult participation in sport and active recreation;  
2) Obesity among primary school aged children. 

 
Thetford Healthy Town – a unique context 

 
 
This three year proposal is part of a longer term plan (20 year) to develop Thetford’s communities 
so that they are healthy, prosperous and sustainable. 
 
 
Thetford Healthy Town – The Vision 
 

 
The context and delivery of this vision is summarised in the Logic Model presented at Appendix 1. 

NHS Norfolk will be the accountable body for the Programme and will work with a range of local 
and regional partners (including Breckland District Council) to establish local delivery 
mechanisms. 

This Programme’s unique selling point has been the opportunity it presents to intrinsically link 
the Healthy Weight, Healthy Lives agenda to:  
 

• The regeneration and large-scale growth of Thetford 
 

• Expanding and ‘hard-to-reach’ new communities 
 

• Build on best practice around physical activity and nutrition projects 

To create an environment which facilitates and embeds healthy lifestyles into the rapidly 
growing and regenerating town of Thetford, through the provision of education, skills training, 
infrastructure provision and creation of a health culture. 

55



 6 

Project Definition – Thetford Healthy Town Programme 
 
Programme Objectives 

 
 
Reflecting the fact that Thetford is one of nine Healthy Town projects, from which good practice 
and lessons can be learned for future roll out across the country, it is worthy to note that our overall 
‘primary’ and ‘secondary’ objectives are as follows: 
 
Primary Objective of the Thetford Healthy Town Programme 
 

• To embed a healthy lifestyle culture in a rapidly growing town, by ensuring health is fully 
integrated into the growth plans and regeneration projects. 

 

• Key National Learning Lesson: Through this Thetford programme, can it be 
demonstrated that a growing town which focuses its efforts on healthy lifestyles be more 
successfully at embedding healthy lifestyles within new and regenerated communities 
compared with any of the many other growing places or towns? 

 
Secondary Objective of the Thetford Healthy Town Programme 
 

• To deliver a series of highly visible initiatives on the ground, mostly within existing 
communities (which are very diverse, with a high migrant population), some building on 
existing good practice and others new initiatives. The aim is to not only encourage healthier 
lifestyles within existing communities in Thetford but to foster a town wide understanding a 
commitment to deliver in the long term a rapidly growing and regenerating town with 
healthy lifestyles at its heart.   

 

• Key National Learning Lesson: Through this Thetford programme, can it be 
demonstrated which projects are successful in creating healthier lifestyles within 
communities. Of the successful project, which projects could potentially be replicated 
elsewhere in the country as good practice? 

 
It should be noted that this is not a short term programme, but one which we intend to maintain for 
a period of 15-20 years (this being the time period within which growth, and doubling, of Thetford 
will occur). However, as the funding programme is only until March 2011, we intend to ensure 
demonstrable outcomes and lessons are targeted to that date as a key interim date in the overall 
15-20 year programme. 
 
 
There are four underlying objectives: -  
 

1. To increase our knowledge and understanding of our communities and their health 
needs and aspirations 

 
2. To embed a culture that delivers health promoting environments within the built and 

social infrastructure, and the future large-scale growth of Thetford 
 

The aims of the Programme are to reduce obesity, increase physical activity and enable 
healthier food choices in Thetford.  We want Thetford to be a healthy town, now and in the 
future.  The award of Healthy Town status and the focus on these three simple aims will help us 
to achieve this goal. 

56



 7 

3. To address issues of overweight and obesity through physical activity and community 
nutrition interventions, with an approach that seeks to engage Thetford’s new 
communities 

 
4. To build on existing good practice in health promotion and the prevention of poor 

health using a ‘community development‘ approach 
 
This Programme’s unique selling point is the opportunity it presents to intrinsically link the Healthy 
Weight, Healthy Lives agenda to:  
 

• The regeneration and large-scale growth of Thetford 
 

• Expanding and ‘hard-to-reach’ new communities 
 

• Build on best practice around physical activity and nutrition programmes 
 
We see this as a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity, where we have everything coming together to 
embed ‘health’ into the town: huge growth; significant regeneration proposals; a keen 
food/agricultural based community; and building on some recent health related best practice. 
Achieving the healthy town status is vital in pulling all these strands and the partners responsible 
for them, together. 

 
 

57



 8 

Method of Approach 
 
There is widespread agreement that public health interventions should be based on a socio-
ecological model of health that recognises that behaviour is affected by multiple levels of influence  
including individual personal and lifestyle factors, social and community networks and cultural 
norms, living and working conditions including institutional and organisational factors, and wider 
socio-economic, cultural and environmental factors.   
 
The Thetford Healthy Town Programme is routed firmly in the socio-ecological model and will 
address overweight and obesity through action at all four policy levels defined by Whitehead 1as: 

 
 
The Programme will be delivered according to the guidelines and requirements issued by the 
Department of Health and the Cross Government Obesity Unit.  It will build on best practice and 
will not duplicate existing delivery mechanisms. 
 
The Programme will link new and existing activities aimed at improving the social environment with 
actions undertaken on expanding and improving the built environment as part of the Moving 
Thetford Forward agenda. 
 
The sustainability of activities and health improvements will be paramount. 
 
The involvement of communities and local delivery mechanisms will be key to success and will be 
championed from the early stages of the Programme and within individual projects. 

                                                
1
 Whitehead, M (2007) Why and how we should tackle inequalities in Europe? 9

th
 Austrian Prevention 

Conference.  

− Strengthening individuals – with person based interventions aimed at increasing knowledge, 
skills, self esteem and empowerment of disadvantaged individuals and groups. 

 

− Strengthening Communities – building social cohesion and mutual support, strengthening 
links within communities and between different groups in society to enable people to work 
collectively on their identified priorities. 

 

− Improving the infrastructure and access to services – with a focus on health promoting 
environments and access to goods and services essential to increasing activity and 
improving diet. 

 

− Making structural changes to economic, cultural and environmental conditions. 

58



 9 

Programme Scope 

 
The Programme will focus exclusively on the urban town and communities in the surrounding rural 
hinterland that use Thetford as a centre for health and recreational activities. 
 
The Programme will target a number of key population groups.   
 

• Thetford is home to a significant and growing migrant worker population and as such health 
interventions will be targeted at these groups.   

 

• In addition, our programmes of physical activity will target school age children and young people 
(e.g. walking and cycling) and elderly populations (e.g. green gym).   

 

• Nutrition and food programmes will be targeted at the most deprived estates and 
neighbourhoods within the town (amongst the 10% most deprived nationally) and at sections of 
the population who have difficulty accessing a balanced diet. 

 

• The population of Thetford will almost double over the next fifteen years.  The proposals put 
forward here will have immediate benefit for those people currently living in the town, particularly 
those living in deprived neighbourhoods.  However, the legacy of the Programme will mean that 
those people moving in to the town will also benefit from an improved health and activity ‘offer’ 
and from the provision of better services and infrastructure. Our ultimate aim is that people will 
move to Thetford because it is known as a ‘healthy town’ and we will market it as such. 

 
A measure of the Programme’s success will be the achievement of specified desired outcomes by 
due dates.  In the subsequent section of this report we detail Programme deliverables.  By the end 
of January 2009 we will [where not already in place]: - 
 

• Recruit Project Manager 

• Identify lead agencies for each deliverable; see next section  

• Develop detailed action plans for each deliverable project 

• Produce a draft programme plan for project portfolio 
 

 

59



 10 

One Programme – A set of integrated projects 

 
 
A  Background Work Prior to Full Programme Plan Initiation  
 
In order to put our projects on a firm footing, we require detailed and accurate baseline data 
and information. 
 
A1. Health Needs Assessment  (Project Lead: Health Improvement Manager, NHS Norfolk)  
 
To review current data and to undertake a comprehensive health needs assessments to gain a 
broader understanding of the health needs of the diverse communities within Thetford and its rural 
hinterland. 
 

To support the preparation of the Full Programme Plan NHS Norfolk is about to commission 
this work as a community-driven health needs assessment for the local communities. This 
is to be an assessment of needs for the whole population, including gaps and inequalities.  
The health needs assessment will be required to: 

 
1 Identify locality priorities for emerging Health Improvement Programmes with 

particular regard to: 

• Healthy weight, diet and physical activity 

• The specific needs of migrant worker communities in respect of healthy weight, 
diet and exercise and 

• The needs of children and young people in respect of healthy weight, diet and 
exercise. 

 
2 Set baseline data for the evaluation of the Thetford Healthy Town programme 

 
This assessment is scheduled for completion in May.  However, an interim report will be 
completed for mid March to inform the Full programme Plan.  

 
A2. Social Research (Project Lead: Sustainable Communities Manager, Breckland Council) 
Undertake consultation and research with migrant communities and other isolated communities to 
establish significant lifestyle and health issues.  As a result of the research, health promotion 
activities will be initiated to improve access to formal health services and the ability to make 
healthy lifestyle decisions. 
 
A key challenge for this project is the disaggregation of data to the town level and the collection of 
primary information from harder-to-reach communities.  It is important that this challenge is fully 
met in the project initiation stage. 
 

The research is now scheduled for the first quarter of 2009/2010.  
 

It is envisaged that the Project will be delivered by the Keystone Development Trust and 
Anglia Ruskin University who have a track record of delivering high quality work in this 
area.                                   www.keystonetrust.org.uk 

Thetford Healthy Towns Programme initially includes fifteen projects under three strands. 
 

A. Background Work Prior to Full Programme Plan (March 2009) 
B. Delivering Primary Objective 1 - embedding a healthy lifestyle culture in a rapidly 

growing town 
C. Delivering the Secondary Objective – discreet, relatively short term projects, to foster 

a culture of healthy lifestyle within existing communities, with successful projects 
hopefully rolled out beyond 2011. 

60



 11 

 

 
B  Delivering Primary Objective 1 - embed a healthy lifestyle culture in a rapidly growing 
town 
 
 
B1. Health Impact Assessment (Project Lead: Planning Policy Officer (Health), MTF 
(Breckland Council) 
 

Health Impact Assessment’s will be undertaken to ensure that decision making at all levels 
considers the potential impacts of decisions on health and health inequalities. It will identify actions 
that can enhance positive effects and reduce or eliminate negative effects of development and 
regeneration on health. In the short term, it is likely external experts will be brought in to undertake 
this task, but a key element will be educating the local planning authority (i.e. Breckland) town 
planners to understand what to look for in development proposals relating to health, and be 
confident and well equipped to challenge proposals which do not fully take advantage of 
opportunities to deliver infrastructure which would assist delivery of healthy lifestyles. 
 
B2. NICE Guidelines(Project Lead: Planning Policy Officer, Moving Thetford Forward, 
Breckland Council) 
 

Planning and development will take account of NICE guidelines and other best practice guidance 
to ensure that Thetford is an exemplar of best practice on health and planning. The NHS is 
represented on the LDV Board overseeing all growth and regeneration proposals in Thetford, 
ensuring health is core to discussions rather than an ‘add-on’ at a later date. 
 
B3. Health Services(Project/Theme Lead: Health Improvement Manager, NHS Norfolk) 
 

The project will ensure that new health facilities and infrastructure commissioned as part of 
Thetford’s growth and development are included in plans and that this extends beyond the 
provision of GP surgeries, dentists etc to deliver a health promoting environment with cycle paths, 
allotments, open space and so on). 
 
B4. Active and Sustainable Transport  (Project Lead: 2new horizons Travel, Thetford) 
 

Building on local and national best practice the project will promote sustainable and active 
transport - with the aim of increasing walking by 20% and cycling by 50%.  Re-invigorating 
Thetford’s 1970’s growth status as a ‘walking town’, the programme will ensure effective street 
design and will encourage and enable people to walk and cycle to local destinations.   
 

We will work with Sustrans and Norfolk Healthy Schools to deliver the ‘Bike It’ programme in 
schools and youth venues and with the County Council’s Active Transport unit and Thetford’s 
employers to develop a localised ‘Walk in to Work Out’ pack  to help ensure workplace travel plans 
deliver increased active travel.   
 
B5. Allotments(Project Lead: Planning Policy Officer, Moving Thetford Forward, Breckland 
Council and Town Manager, Thetford Town Council ) 
 

To meet proven locally rising demand for allotment spaces within Thetford the project will seek to 
provide additional community allotment spaces throughout the town.  This provision will be 
supported by community development activity linked to the Community Supported Agriculture 
initiative described below and will create shared growing spaces.  It will engage Thetford residents 
in developing skills in horticulture and using horticulture and environmental activities to raise 
awareness of environmental and food issues. 
 

61



 12 

B6. Community Supported Agriculture (Project Lead: Planning Policy Officer (Health), MTF 
(Breckland Council) 
 

The proposals learn from the findings of Sustain’s 1996 report on growing food in cities and aim to 
establish a community supported agriculture scheme following a peri-urban farming model 
whereby local consumers, the communities of Thetford, are engaged in the management of a farm 
or small holding on the outskirts of the town and have a stake in its output. Such schemes have 
been shown to provide an educational environment, an appreciation of how food is grown 
contributing to a more healthy diet, improvements in mental and physical health and the 
empowerment of disadvantaged communities with new skills.   
 

The scheme will also provide education and training particularly aimed at, though not restricted to, 
young people out of education and employment. The significance of such a scheme in Thetford is 
in the potential for Thetford’s diverse communities to work together, sharing skills from across the 
continent to the benefit of all. The farm will concentrate on developing resilient fruit and vegetable 
production with the objective of supplying into the local market, into box schemes and linking to 
‘Healthy Start’ promotions and the Joy of Food programme.  
 

The project will form the hub of a local food distribution scheme which will distribute produce from 
other local producers to outlets in the town, including home delivery.   The scheme will be based 
on good practice from this country and abroad and will be supported through East Anglia Food Link 
and Easton College.   
 

 
C  Delivering Secondary Objective – discreet, relatively short term projects, to foster a 
culture of healthy lifestyle within existing communities, with successful projects hopefully 
rolled out beyond 2011. 
 
C1. Specialist Cohesion Pilot(Project Lead: Sustainable Communities Manager, Breckland 
Council ) 
 

Breckland was recently announced as a national pilot for the Government’s Specialist Cohesion 
Team, which will address community cohesion by promoting and sharing best practice and 
developing innovative solutions to cohesion issues.  The Health Town projects will be fully aligned 
with this pilot programme. 
 
C2. Health Connectors(Project Lead: Health Improvement Manager, NHS Norfolk) 
 

The principle of recruiting and training health connectors from within the Thetford community is 
embedded throughout these proposals.  In addition to the current DH funded health trainer 
programme this  proposal will support the recruitment and training of volunteer health connectors 
from Thetford’s new communities and other groups currently under-represented in the health 
trainer programme e.g. young people.   
 

The trainers will connect members of Thetford’s new communities with the initiatives within this 
proposal and supporting community development activity with existing and new communities.  A 
principle role for the community development workers will be to support the health connector 
programme in partnership with the PCT schemes. 
 
C3. META(Project: Keystone Development Trust, Thetford ) 
 

To build on a successful information and advice service for new communities in Thetford.  The 
project will offer migrant workers a telephone helpline and 1-2-1 surgeries that provide advice and 
guidance on accessing health services and information on activities that promote healthy lifestyle 
choices.  Volunteers from new communities will be fully trained to deliver this service. 
 

62



 13 

C4. Thetford Green Gym(Project Lead: Operations Manager, BTCV) 
 

This project aims to help people living in Thetford, from all communities, and who may be suffering 
from poor physical or mental health, or social isolation which could potentially lead to poor health 
by providing a BTCV Green Gym™ carrying out environmental improvements on local green 
spaces and food growing on an allotment.  
 

There will be three sessions a week for up to fifteen people at each session. The Green Gym is a 
unique approach linking health to the environment.   
 
C5. Walking for Health(Project Lead:Sustainable Communities Manager, Breckland Council) 
 

The Natural England Walking for Health Programme is well established within the town.  This 
proposal will support the continuation and expansion of the programme, targeting those who are 
under-represented on our scheme including our new communities, families and parents of young 
children and people in the workplace.  
 

Our extended programme will utilise pedometers and other motivational tools, will provide led 
walks and walk guides for independent walking and will aim to  have a third of Thetford walking 
10,000 steps a day.  
 
C6. Cycle Recycle(Project Lead: Keystone Development Trust, Thetford ) 
 

The Cycle Recycle proposal is a multi-dimensional project with 3 key strands.  The recycling 
element will be delivered through a social inclusion and youth training scheme which will train 
young people in cycle maintenance were they can re-build unwanted or abandoned bikes for 
themselves or for use in other aspects of the scheme.  The programme will work through the Youth 
Offending Team, traveller education and NEETS programmes.  Training will also include cycle 
leadership qualifications. 
 

The second strand provides a cycling for health programme linked to the existing walking for health 
scheme and delivering led rides and way marked routes within the town and linking with the forest 
and surrounding green spaces. 
 

The third strand links to the active and sustainable travel programme and will provide a pool of 
cycles for leisure use and for use alongside active travel plans, cycle skills training through 
‘bikeability’ and maintenance course for new cyclists.  All aimed at increasing the number of cycle 
journeys and recreational cycling. 
 
C7. The Joy of Food(Project Lead: Keystone Development Trust, Thetford) 
 

This project will respond to the need for more practical support around cooking and food skills; it 
will further respond to requests from a wide range of agencies, both within health and social care, 
and particularly from those that support younger people, including young parents, for practical 
sessions to help people to choose to eat a more balanced diet and enjoy a wider variety of foods.    
Research has provided evidence of very low levels of food skills amongst some of Thetford’s 
communities.   
 

Our original pilots have led to the Lottery Funded Joy of Food programme which will train Joy of 
Food trainers from within the community who will deliver this community food initiative that aims to 
increase awareness of a balanced diet, provide basic cooking and shopping skills and top raise the 
profile of food and its enjoyment in its wider social context. The programme is targeted at young 
people between the ages of 14 and 30 
 
The proposal is to extend the current programme to into other areas of social deprivation in the 
town and to target other at risk groups including single migrant workers, middle aged men and 
older people living in isolation. 
 
 
 

63



 14 

C8. Green Ventures(Project Lead: Keystone Development Trust, Thetford) 
 

Green ventures is a furniture re-use and re-cycling scheme that takes unwanted furniture and 
equipment available to low income populations at low cost contributing to ensuring that people 
have a good quality, safe and healthy home environment.  The project contributes to improving 
health in its broadest sense and has been shown to be an effective way of engaging with 
individuals and groups within Thetford who rarely come into contact with health or social care 
services.  Green Ventures also provides training and employment opportunities for Thetford 
residents and will link to the re-cycle element of the cycle recycle programme detailed above.   
 
 
Early Project Deliverables 
Further details will be provided in the Programme Plan but listed below is a set of early deliverable 
activities to demonstrate action and early milestones for the first half of 2009. 
 
In Year 1 – Quarter 4  (Jan to March 2009) 

• Health Impact Assessment commenced and Interim Report received 

• Embedding of health related policies into the emerging Thetford Area Action Plan – public 
consultation on Plan begins 

• Recruitment to Programme’s Community Development posts 
 
In Year 2 – Quarter 1  (April to June 2009) 

• Health Impact Assessment completed  

• Embedding health related policies into the emerging Thetford Area Action Plan – public 
consultation complete; moves to next stage in statutory process  

• Findings from Specialist Cohesion Pilot published and informing action planning 

• Social Research undertaken with new communities  

• Health Connector training commenced and beginning to be applied 

• META health advice and information service launched 

• Green Gym coordinator recruited and programme commenced   

• Extended Walking for Health Scheme launched 

• Joy of Food programme linked in to existing Local Food Group 

• Programme’s Community Development post-holders in place 

• Site(s) identified for allotment development 
 
In Year 2 – Quarter 2  (July to September 2009) 

• Commenced Community Supported Agriculture Scheme 

64



 15 

Constraints and Interfaces 
 
Constraints 
 
Time 
The delivery and implementation of this Programme is extremely challenging, and the large 
number of organisations in the area makes it difficult to identify a single readiness method or 
criteria. 
 
Workforce 
The Programme will place additional demands on the time of existing personnel particularly in the 
short term. 
 
The Programme will need to identify innovative ways of accessing expertise from within the local 
[health] community. 
 
The Programme will need to identify a quick ‘route’ to the successful recruitment of a suitably 
qualified project manager.  The challenge of delivering on planning and project management 
requirements in the short term is clear.  Interim measures are being put in place 
(secondment/consultancy). 
 
Finance 
The Programme budget requires a 50% match.  Whilst challenging this match is achievable but 
requires match (financial and in kind) from a number of different organisations and sources. 
 
Monitoring and Evaluation 
The Programme will seek to develop new and innovative ways of measuring the contribution that 
effective development and planning makes to physical activity and health choices of local people, 
so that we can continue to improve our service and plans, and pass on best practice to other 
growing towns (such as the eco-towns programme) 
 
A further challenge will be the collection of data at the local level on indicators of obesity and 
physical activity.  Support will be sought from the Central Team on this issue. 
 
Interfaces 
 
The work on the Health Needs Assessment and Social Research, under  part A of the Programme 
to inform the detailed and accurate baseline, will also be used to focus the delivery of the projects. 
 
In addition there are existing local strategy documents that have informed the Programme and 
Projects.  These include: 

• Norfolk’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  (NHS Norfolk 2008) 

• Norfolk PCT Migrant Workers Strategy  (2007-2010) 

• The Sustainable Community Strategy for Breckland (the Breckland Partnership 2008-2011) 

• The Thetford Area Action Plan Consultation Document (December 2008) 
 
|As noted in B1 in the section on Programme Deliverables, Health Impact Assessment’s will be 
developed and undertaken to ensure that future decision making, at all levels considers the 
potential impacts of these decisions on health and health inequalities.  For example, through 
considering Master Plans and planning applications.  In addition, when investing in public building 
projects or open space developments. 
 
There are also a number of projects that offer mutual support and added value if they are joined 
up.  In particular projects under the ‘infrastructure umbrella (B) can be developed in the context of 
the delivery of other projects where the focus is on the delivery of discreet outcomes around a 
healthy lifestyle.  For example, the project to promote sustainable and active transport (B4) in the 
town will provide opportunities for ‘walking for health’ (C5) and ‘cycle recycle’ (C6).   

65



 16 

 
With regard to the range of projects under the healthy lifestyle umbrella there are may cross-overs 
between these.  For example, the Health Connectors initiative (C2) offers extra capacity and 
knowledge to promote and train, as appropriate, members of new and hard to reach communities 
in accessing and making full use of the proposed ‘Green Gym’ (C4) and the ‘Joy of Food’ approach 
to providing support around cooking and food skills. 
 
Each project will have an identified lead who will be responsible for reviewing and managing 
activity in an integral way across the Programme.  The role of the project lead will be set out in a 
guidance note. 
 
The Project Manager, working through the Project Group will work as the key point of contact to 
ensure that integration takes place across the Programme.  In addition, at the local level delivery 
will be informed by close working with and across the following agencies at national, regional and 
local level. 
 
National 

• Department of Health 

• Department of Culture, Media and Sport 

• Department for Children, Schools and Families 

• Cross Government Obesity Unit 
 
Regional 

• East of England Regional Public Health Group 

• NHS East of England 

• GO East 
 
Local 

• NHS Norfolk 

• Breckland Council 

• Breckland Partnership (LSP) 

• Moving Thetford Forward

66



 17 

Initial Business Case 
 
Business Case 
 
The current population of Thetford is 21,588.  The town has pockets of severe deprivation and has 
a significant migrant worker population (est. 6000)  In October 2006, Thetford was awarded Growth 
Point Status and for that reason the town will see considerable housing (6000-9,000 homes), 
population growth (20,000) and economic growth (5000 jobs) over the next twenty years.  
 
The GOAD Catchment Profile, that measures the extent of the local consumer base, indicates a 
2007 catchment of just under 70,000 people.   
 
Thetford as a town presents contrasting opportunities and challenges. 
 
The Programme presents a unique opportunity to link the Healthy Weight, Healthy Lives agenda 
to:  
 

• Regeneration and large-scale growth 

• Expanding and ‘hard-to-reach’ new communities 

• Best practice around physical activity and nutrition programmes 

• Strong governance arrangements 
 
There are significant health challenges in Thetford. 
 
For example, there are statistically significant health inequalities across the Breckland district, with 
Thetford wards reporting the lowest levels of life expectancy for males (74.2) and females (78.6) 
and the highest numbers of children living in poverty.  
 
Childhood obesity is lower than the Norfolk and England average, however adult obesity and 
prevalence of diabetes are significantly higher [as is the prevalence of smoking]: - 
 

• Obese adults Breckland – 29.1% 

• Obese adults nationally – 23.6% 
 
In Thetford, levels of physical activity are low.  19.6% of residents take part in regular sport / 
recreation compared to the national average of 21%.  
 
The health needs of the growing migrant worker communities are not yet fully understood.  
 

67



 18 

Costs 
The Table below indicates spend from the Healthy 
Challenge Fund Contribution.  Match funding will be 
identified and included in the full Programme Plan.     

     

Project 2008/09 2009/10 20010/11 Total Cost 

     

Personnel     

Project Manager 15,000 47,500 47,500 110,000 

Planner 0 40,000 40,000 80,000 

Health Practitioner 0 35,000 35,000 70,000 

Recruitment 15,000 0 0 10,000 

Total 30,000 122,500 122,500 275,000 

     

Knowledge and understanding     

Health Needs Assessment 30,000 0 0 30,000 

Social Marketing 10,000 10,000 0 20,000 

Research (inc. monitoring and evaluation) 5,000 10,000 15,000 30,000 

Total  45,000 20,000 15,000 80,000 

     

Infrastructure     

Health Impact Assessment 0 15,000 5,000 20,000 

Allotments 0 20,000 20,000 40,000 

CSA 0 50,000 50,000 100,000 

Active/Sustainable Transport 0 20,000 20,000 40,000 

Total  0 105,000 95,000 200,000 

     

Projects     

Health Connectors and META 0 25,000 25,000 50,000 

Health Connectors (LSP) 0 15,000 0 15,000 

Cycle Recycle 0 30,000 30,000 60,000 

Green Gym 0 50,000  50,000  100,000 

Walking and Cycling for Health  10,000 10,000 20,000 

Joy of Food 0 20,000 20,000 40,000 

Leisure/Sports provision 15,000 45,000 0 60,000 

     

Total  15,000 195,000 135,000 345,000 

     

Totals 90,000 442,500 367,500 900,000 

 
 
 
 
Initial Programme Plan 
 
A full Programme Plan is being developed for March 2009.  An initial Programme plan for the 
period December 2008 – April 2009 has been achieved. 
 
Project Initiation Document – December 2008 to January 2009 
The scope of the Programme, included in this Project Initiation Document, will be produced and 
agreed by the Project Group, sent to the Moving Thetford Forward Board for steer and comment by 
the end of January.  This PID is a final draft, prepared in response to feedback from the 
Department of Health and will be submitted to the Department for final approval on 21st January. 
 
First meeting of the Project Group – December 2008 
The main objective of this first meeting was to approve the draft Project Initiation Document and in 
particular, scope the review.  Lead agencies were identified for key projects and will be tasked with 
producing action plans for inclusion in the full Programme Plan. 
 
Full Programme Plan – January to March 2009 

68



 19 

A full Programme Plan will be developed [and agreed by Project Group and Moving Thetford 
Forward Board] for submission to Department of Health in line with their requirements.  An interim 
Project Manager has been recruited to deliver this work.   
 
Consultation with users, stakeholders and other interested partners – February to March 
2009 
The Project Group will seek feedback from users, stakeholders and other interested partners on 
the full Programme Plan.  Responses will be coordinated by the Project Group and will inform the 
delivery phase of the Programme. 
 
 
Initial Risk Log 
 
A review of immediate risks to the Programme has been undertaken.  Details below.  A full risk 
analysis will be completed as part of the Programme Plan development and will comply with the 
procedures set out in Breckland Council’s and NHS Norfolk’s Risk Management Strategies. 
 
 

 

Risk 
No. 

Description Likelihood Severity of  
Effect 

Countermeasure 

1 Inability to 
recruit Project 
Manager 

Low High Fully explore interim consultancy 
opportunities and utilise local 
networks of qualified individuals 

2 Scope of 
Programme is 
larger than 
expected 

Low Medium Develop strong TOR for project 
group and retain focus on SMART 
projects 

3 Project Group 
– staff changes 

Low Medium Ensure project work is well 
documented.  Review commitments 
of Project Group members on 
regular basis. 

4 Early projects 
slow to start 

Medium Medium Project Board and Interim Project 
Manager to identify barriers and 
problem solve. 

69



 20 

Organisational Structure 
 

The Thetford Healthy Town Programme has the full support and commitment of NHS Norfolk, 
Breckland District Council and Moving Thetford Forward.   
 
Senior councillors from Norfolk, Breckland and Thetford councils (the three tiers of local 
government in Thetford) support this project.  Through their involvement with the Moving Thetford 
Forward group the Leaders of Norfolk County Council (Daniel Cox) and Breckland Council (William 
Nunn) have officially endorsed this project.  The Chair of NHS Norfolk (Sheila Childerhouse) fully 
supports this proposal. 
 
There are a number of key components to the proposed organisational structure: - 
 

• Moving Thetford Forward Board 

• NHS Norfolk Primary Care Programme Board 

• Project Group 
 
 
Moving Thetford Forward Board 
 

As a response to Thetford receiving national Growth Point status in late 2006, and the subsequent 
confirmation of high growth targets in the adopted East of England Plan (2008), Thetford 
established a non-statutory, non-legal, informal partnership Local Delivery Vehicle (LDV), known 
as Moving Thetford Forward (MTF). 
 
MTF Comprises of a Board and a variety of working groups. The Board has a 50/50 split of local 
Council representation and other public/private partners, including the NHS. 

The overarching aims of MTF, according to its Memorandum of Understanding, are to:  

(a) facilitate and accelerate the delivery of growth and economic development of Thetford; 

(b) assist the regeneration and renaissance of Thetford for all its residents, existing and new; 

(c) positively engage with all those with an interest in Thetford, including the public, local 
businesses, landowners and public bodies; and 

(d) positively ‘sell’ the benefits and potential of Thetford to the wider world, in order to raise 
its profile, encourage investment and increase confidence in the town 

Subject to final agreement (to be confirmed in the full Programme Plan), the intention is that the 
Moving Thetford Forward Board, and any applicable sub-groups reporting to the Board, will act as 
overall steer and monitor of the Healthy Town Programme of activities, whilst NHS Norfolk will 
retain Accountable Body status.  
 
Moving Thetford Forward website can be found at www.movingthetfordforward.com  
 
 
NHS Norfolk Primary Care Programme Board  
 
The Primary Care Programme Board is one of eight programme boards established under the NHS 
Norfolk Programme Commissioning structure.  Each Programme Board is responsible for the 
management, delivery and monitoring of both the PCT’s mainstream business and its Continuous 
Improvement Programme.  The Primary Care Programme Board takes specific responsibility for 
commissioning of primary care services for medical, nursing, dental and therapeutic services and 
for health promotion and health improvement under the ‘staying healthy’ work stream.  As such it is 
best placed to be the accountable Board for the Healthy Town Programme. 
 
Membership of the Primary Care Programme team includes members from all key 
directorates and the clinical executive of NHS Norfolk and includes a wide range of qualifications, 
skills and experience.  

70



 21 

The Board is chaired by the Director of Public Health (a joint appointment with Norfolk County 
Council) and includes the following representatives: 

Clinical Lead 
Financial Lead 
Commissioning Associate Director 
Contracting and procurement resources 
Public Health support 
Clinical Governance / Quality Support 
Communications and PPI Link 
Local Authority  
Practice Based Commissioning Consortium clinical and management leads  
Plus additional support as required. 

 
Members of the Primary Care Programme team will provide direct support to the Healthy Town 
Project Group in respect of their specialist areas.  For example, the financial support and 
procurement function will be provided by the respective leads. 
 
The Primary Care Programme Board meets on a monthly basis and reports directly into NHS 
Norfolk’s Programme Performance management process and into the corporate and clinical 
governance structures. 
 
Project Group 
 
The Project Group is responsible for delivery of the Programme. 

Name Organisation/ post Contact 

(TBC) Overall Programme Manager 

NHS Norfolk 

(To be appointed) 

Martin Seymour NHS Norfolk 

Health Improvement Manager 

01603 257111 

martin.seymour@norfolk.nhs.uk  

Rob Walker Breckland Council 

Sustainable Communities Manager 

01362 656256 

robert.walker@breckland.gov.uk  

Richard Kay Breckland Council  

Planning Policy Officer 

01842 756599 

richard.kay@breckland.gov.uk  

Dr Roz Coombs Regional Physical Activity Coordinator 

East of England Public Health 
Directorate GO-East 

01223 372515 

Roz.Coombs@dh.gsi.gov.uk 

 

MTF Health ‘Champion’ To be appointed 28th January from MTF.  

John Ingham NHS Norfolk  

Finance Manager 

01603 257073 

John.ingham@norfolk.nhs.uk 

Chris Nelson Interim Programme Manager 

(Jan to March 2009) 

chrisworks@rossnelson.com 

 

71



 22 

 
 
Project Manager 
 
The recruitment process for the Project Manager has commenced and will lead to appointment 
prior to April 2009.  A Job Description has been prepared.   
 
An officer has been recruited on interim (consultancy) basis to manage Programme planning 
phase (January – March  2009).  This officer commenced work in the middle of January 2009. 

 

72



 23 

Communication Plan 
 
This forms a basic outline of our communication plan. However, we acknowledge that a full plan is 
essential prior to full launch of the Programme in early 2009. We are  working on this, and it will be 
a priority for the interim project manager. It is essential that the communication plan closely links 
with the parallel Communication Plan which Moving Thetford Forward is currently drafting.  This 
covers wide growth and regeneration initiatives in Thetford.  A media officer within Breckland 
Council’s communication team will be nominated as the communication lead for this programme. 
 
The local media is represented on the Breckland Partnership Board that oversees all partnership 
activity in Breckland and is supportive of the Programme.  The communications teams at 
Breckland Council and NHS Norfolk will work with all local media to ensure a high profile for this 
Programme. 
 
A social marketing campaign will focus on tailored messages for at-risk population groups and will 
connect with the national social marketing programme relay key messages on food, physical 
activity and well being. There will be an emphasis on highlighting opportunities to take part in 
activities in the local area. 
 
A key element of this proposal is to engage communities in the planning and development of 
Thetford’s built and social infrastructure and in developing important and immediate public health 
services.  A Community Engagement Officer will be employed as part of this proposal and used to 
facilitate the engagement process.  
 
Interested Parties 
 
The communication plan for the Programme aims to identify all stakeholders outside the Project 
Group and agree information needs, including frequency and methods of communication.  The 
Project Group will disseminate information through various channels.   
 
Methods of Communication 
 

• Documents and information will be made available on the Breckland Council, the 
Moving Thetford Forward and the NHS Norfolk websites. 

• A series of presentations and workshops to users and stakeholders will take place 
to inform them of the Programme. 

• The consultation process will involve the dissemination of information through a 
number of different ‘routes’, e.g. workshop, poster, survey. 

• Health Connectors will be fully utilised as communicators particularly with hard-to-
reach groups. 

• A social marketing campaign will be run within the town, closely linked to the 
Change4Life agenda. 

 
Frequency of Communications 
 

• Communication with users and stakeholders will be targeted to coincide with the 
planning, launch of delivery of activities. 

• A minimum of 4 Project Group meetings will be held per annum through the duration 
of the Programme. Additional meetings will only be convened if there are 
exceptional issues to discuss. 

• The social marketing campaign will be run through the duration of the Programme. 
 
Consultation  
 
As part of the Health Needs Assessment and wider consultation during the planning phase of the 
Programme, the Project Group will oversee consultation with key target groups, stakeholders and 
other interested parties. 

73



 24 

 
Further consultation will be undertaken over the lifetime of the Programme as part of the 
monitoring and evaluation of the project portfolio. 

74



 25 

Quality Assurance  
 
The quality plan specifies how the Project Group intends to deliver outcomes that meet quality 
expectations and quality standards. 
 

• Issues will be discussed with users and stakeholders before progressing project stages. 

• The project group will receive feedback from stakeholders, users, and other interested 
parties. 

• The project group will oversee the process of consultation and development. 

• The project group will contain at least one independent external member. 
 
The project group will report to the NHS Norfolk Primary Care Programme Board and will be 
subject to the quality assurance and programme performance monitoring procedures of the PCT. 
 
 
The following key documents will be made publicly available as the review progresses: 
 

• The project initiation document which will include the scope of the review. 

• The full programme plan. 
 
 

Monitoring and evaluation  
 
We will work with the new Centre of Excellence – based at the MRC, Cambridge and 
Environmental Sciences & MED, Norwich – to research and evaluate initiatives that are taking 
place. 
 
The plans for assessment can be split into two component parts for monitoring and evaluating:  
1) Engagement and satisfaction with planning process and infrastructure developments around 
health. 
2) Improvements in key health indicators as a result of immediate provision of key services. 
 
1.  Engagement in planning process: 
 
Engagement with planning decisions around health infrastructure improvements will be measured 
in a number of ways, including community awareness and response to proposals, and ease of 
access to plans. The evaluation of developments on the ground, and their impact on health, will be 
the joint responsibility of Moving Thetford Forward and Breckland Council, with regular reporting to 
respective Boards and Committees Moving Thetford Forward and Breckland Council has a proud 
record of consulting the people of Thetford on plans and proposals, as demonstrated recently with 
the latest Thetford Area Action Plan consultation whereby 10% of the population responded to a 
20page questionnaire – a huge response rate when compared to other town and district proposals 
(a 1-3% is more common).   

 

2.  Health improvements: 
 
We are still working on the precise items to be measured and monitored, but will include them in 
the final Programme Plan. Items likely will include the following, but we anticipate a more 
comprehensive and clear package by the full Programme Plan: 
 

• Increased physical activity measured through the adult participation indicators in the  Sport 
England, Active England survey and the number of children taking part in 2 hours or more of 
high quality PE and School Sport;   

• Reduced prevalence of obesity measured through the childhood height and weight 
measurements and practice registers. 

• Self reported health status  

75



 26 

• Other outcome measures will include: access to health services and advice by migrant [new] 
communities.  

 
The opportunities for community-led research, exploiting established links with Anglian Ruskin 
University are currently being explored.   

76



 27 

APPENDIX 1. THETFORD HEALTHY TOWN – DRAFT LOGIC MODEL 

 
Thetford Healthy Town 

A once-in-a-lifetime opportunity with everything coming together to embed ‘health’ into the town: huge growth; significant 
regeneration; a keen food/agricultural based community; building on health related best practice across established and 

arriving communities, including migrant workers and their families.  
 

Impact and Outcomes 

 

The 

situation in 
Thetford 

 

Assumptions  Healthy 

Town 
Priorities 

Inputs 

 
 

Outputs 

(The 
Programme) 

Short Term 

(Year One) 

Med Term 

(End of DoH 

funding – 

March 2011) 

Long Term 

(Towards 

Thetford 2026) 

Growth Point 

Status - 
planned growth 

from 21,500 

today to 40,000 

in 20 years.   
So, a rare 

opportunity to 
be pro-active 

and plan for a 
healthy town as 

part of large-
scale growth and 

re-generation of 

Thetford. 

 

Primary 

Assumption: 
That by reducing 

obesity, 

increasing 

physical activity 
and enabling 

healthier food 
choices in 

Thetford it will 
become a healthy 

town to live in, 
with improved 

open spaces.   

 

Primary 

Objective: 
To embed a 

healthy lifestyle 

culture in a 

rapidly growing 
town; ensuring 

health is fully 
integrated into 

plans and 
regeneration 

projects. 
 

Secondary 

Objective: 
To deliver highly 

DoH Healthy 

Communities 

money and 

local match 

Funding 

 
Local 

Delivery 

Structure, 

Partnership 

and 

Leadership 

• Moving 

Thetford 
Forward 

The doing: 

A set of 

projects within 

the wider 

Healthy Town 

Programme.  
 
These will cover: 
• detailed and 

accurate 
baseline data 

and 
information 

• projects to 
embed a 

healthy 

A clearer 

understanding 
of the health 

needs of the 
target 

populations; 

further 

opportunities 

for community 
led research  

 
Health related 

policies 
embedded into 

the Thetford 
Area Action 

To have put in 

place the skills, 
resources, plans 

and strategies 
which ensure 

that growth 

encompasses 

the 

infrastructure 
(soft and hard) 

to facilitate long 
term healthy 

lifestyles in 
Thetford. 

 
 

To see the hard 

infrastructure to 
support healthy 

lifestyles being 
implemented in 

parallel with the 

growth to 2026 

To continue, 

revise or trial new 
‘soft’ 

infrastructure for 
other health 

projects, with 
continued learning 

and dissemination 
of advice and best 

7
7



 28 

The 

methodology 

assumes 

change is 

required at 

four levels:  
 

Strengthening 

individuals 
 

Strengthening 

communities 
 

Improving 

infrastructure 

and access to 

services 
 

Making 
structural 

changes to 

economic, 

cultural and 

environmental 

conditions 

 

Plan 

 

A joined up 
approach to 

local food 
production and 

distribution 

 
Closer ties to 

the target 
groups; and 

new ways of 
working with 

them; 

particularly 

migrant 
workers and 

their families 

The extension 

of existing good 

practice. 
 

Increased 
physical activity 

levels 

 

 

practice. 

By 2026, at the 

completion of the 
growth and 

regeneration of 
the town, we will 

see sustainable 

and diverse 
communities, 

where healthy 
lifestyles are 

embraced and are 
the easy choice 

for residents and 

visitors, where 

people feel and 
are, on the whole, 

healthy, and 
where levels of 

obesity are below 
regional averages. 

 
People will move 

to Thetford 

because it is 
known as a 

‘healthy town’.  

Pockets of 

severe 

deprivation 

and 

significant 

migrant 

worker 

population 
(6,000 - 

estimated at > 
25 per cent of 

town’s total).   
The health needs 

of our growing 

migrant worker 

communities are 
not yet fully 

understood.  
 

Small town 

with rural 

hinterland 
offers the chance 

to build on 

current best-

practice 

around 
physical 

activity and 
nutrition 

programmes. 
 

Adult obesity 

and prevalence 

of diabetes are 

significantly 

high; and 

levels of 
physical 

activity are 

low. 
 

There will be 

local and 

national 

learning. 

 

Key National 

Learning 

Lesson: a 
growing town 

which focuses 
efforts on healthy 

lifestyles can be 

more successful 

at embedding 
healthy lifestyles 

visible initiatives 

on the ground, 

some building on 
good practice 

and others new 
initiatives. To 

encourage 

healthier 
lifestyles within 

existing 
communities and 

commitment to 
deliver a 

regenerating 

town with 

healthy lifestyles 
at its heart.   
 

Target 

Groups: 
To increase adult 

participation in 
sport and 

recreation. 
 

To reach and 
understand the 

specific health 
needs of migrant 

workers. 
 

To reduce 
obesity among 

primary school 
aged children. 
 

Underlying 

Objectives:  
1. To increase 
knowledge + 

understanding 

of our 

communities; 

their health 

Board 

• NHS Norfolk 

Primary Care 
Programme 

Board 

• Healthy Town 

Project Group 

 
Senior manager 

and officer - 

skills, 

experience and 
time to develop 

and implement 
programme 

 
A ‘community 

development 
approach’ that 

will enable 
target groups to 

support their 

own health 
improvements. 

 
Regional and 

National support 
through DoH, 

GO East and 
other public 

bodies. 
 

Academic 
interest in 

research and 
evaluation. 

 

 

lifestyle 

culture in a 

rapidly 
growing town 

• a set of 
discreet, 

relatively 

short term 
projects, to 

foster a 
culture of 

healthy 
lifestyle 

 

The reach: 

 
Individuals, at 
home, at work 

and at leisure; 
including: school 

age children and 
older people, 

particularly those 
from 

disadvantaged 

neighbourhoods 

 
New arrivals to 

Thetford will be 
targeted. 

 

Specific 

communities e.g. 

migrant worker 
communities 

 
Planners, health 

professionals and 

other decision 

makers 
 

Providers of 
primary health 

Fulfilling the Vision: 

The creation of an environment which 
facilitates and embeds healthy lifestyles 
into the rapidly growing and regenerating 
town of Thetford, through the provision of 
education, skills training, infrastructure 

provision and creation of a health culture. 

 

7
8



 29 

Breckland’s 

lowest levels of 

life expectancy 

and highest 

numbers of 

children living 

in poverty are 

in Thetford. 

within new and 

regenerated 

communities 
compared with 

other growing 
places or towns? 
 

Also that: there 
will be successful 

outcomes from 
projects that 

could potentially 
be replicated 

elsewhere in the 

country as good 

practice. 

 

 

needs and 

aspirations. 

2. Embed a 

culture that 
delivers health 

promoting 

environments 
within new built 

and social 
infrastructure.  

3. Address 

issues of obesity 

through physical 

activity and 
community 

nutrition 
interventions, 

with an approach 
that seeks to 

engage new 
communities. 

4. Build on good 
practice in 

health 

promotion and 

prevention of 
poor health; a 

‘community 
development‘ 

approach. 

and other 

services, leisure 

opportunities and 
those involved in 

local food 
production and 

distribution. 

 

7
9



 30 

Appendix 2 - Thetford Healthy Town Delivery Structure - DRAFT Dec 08 
 

 

MTF B0ARD 
Programme governance, strategic direction/risks, support & resources, 

rank priorities, key programme recommendations, Healthy Town 
champions 

MTF OFFICER 
GROUP 
Consultees, 

programme/project 
sounding board, technical 
support, Project appraisal, 

Healthy Town 
ambassadors. 

Healthy Town Project Directors / Project Steering Group 
NHS Norfolk Health Improvement Manager and Finance Manager, 

Breckland Council Sustainable Communities Manager and Planning Policy 
Officer 

GO East Public Health Directorate 
MTF Healthy Town Champion 

Organisational SUPPORT  
BDC: Environmental Planning, Economic Development, 
Finance, Communications, Assets, Community 
Engagement, Legal 
NHS Norfolk: Finance, Procurement, Governance etc 
NCC: Transport…. 
TTC: 
KDT: 
etc 

External 
Consultancy 
Contracted when 

required  
Marketing/Website 

Urban design 
Study specialists 
Expert advisors 

 

MTF 
Community 
Forum and 

Thetford Task 

Force 

Thetford Healthy Town 
Delivery Structure 

 

DRAFT Dec 08 

NHS Norfolk as Accountable Body 
NHS Primary Care Programme  Board 

Healthy Town Project Leads 
 

• Healthy Town Project Manager 

• Senior Planner (Healthy Lifestyle) 

• Community Health Improvement Specialist 

• Individual Project Delivery Staff 
 

8
0



BRECKLAND PARTNERSHIP 
 

19 FEBRUARY 2009 
 

Report of Mark Fretwell, Partnership (LSP) Officer, Breckland Council 
 

The Environmental Project Group 
 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To update the LSP Board Members on the progress with the Environmental Project 
Group. Together with a broader outline providing the national context of climate 
change within a local setting. 

 

2. Recommendations 
 
 It is recommended that the LSP Board: 
 
2.1 Note [for information and planning purposes] the contents of this report. 
 
2.2  The Environmental Project Group (EPG) to put forward a future plan of activity with              
defined outcomes & the relevant costings to the May 14th LSP Board meeting. 
 
 

 

3.      Background  

 

National Context: 
 
3.1.1 Each council’s vision must incorporate both mitigation & adaptation & the challenges of 
delivering at least a 26–32 % reduction in carbon emissions by 2020 & at least a 60 % 
reduction by 2050; building a low-carbon local economy; protecting communities from 
extreme weather events & developing climate-resilient public services. (According to the 
LGA Climate Change Commission report). 
 
3.1.2 The statutory framework LGA – “Our challenge to local government & the wider public 
sector is that there should be no poor performers on climate change by the end of 2009. 
Local government, working with key national & local partners, including national government, 
the Audit Commission, CIPFA & the bodies that support local government improvement, 
should establish the reduction of carbon emissions, & resilience to climate change as 
priorities for every council & local strategic partnership (LSP), not replacing existing priorities 
but built into all”. 
 
3.1.3 Local government is uniquely placed to tackle climate change with a democratic 
mandate for action, close proximity to citizens, & a strategic role leading other public, private 
& voluntary sector partners. There are some outstanding examples of local council 
leadership and it reveals that momentum is now building more widely. 
 
3.1.4 The Audit Commission has an essential role to play through the comprehensive area 
assessment (CAA) to ensure that sustainability is embedded effectively in the work of local 
government. The CAA will place much greater emphasis on sustainability including the 
statement that “long-term value for money requires the sustainable use of resources. This 
means taking account of the long-term impact on costs and wider implications, including for 
the environment.” The Audit Commission will need to consider how it will strengthen its 
capacity to secure sustainability in the operations of local government & its partnerships. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

81



 

Local Context:  
 
3.1.5 The LSP Board members agreed at the December 11th Board meeting that an 
Environmental Project Group (E.P.G) should be set up & for an outline report to be 
submitted to the next LSP Board meeting. 
 
3.1.6 A pre-meeting was held on the 28th January to discuss potential projects/ideas that 
could be discussed at the EPG & the options included: 
 

• A green village – utilizing peers & partnership contacts 

• A fuel poverty programme e.g insulation (ward level data) 

• Community composting schemes 

• Eco-House (virtual) incorporating env, home safety, & fire initiatives 

• Schools involvement – competition promoting green initiatives 

• Environment & Energy weeks (road-show events) 

• Thermal imaging data – advise/support env. improvements 

• Environmental groups developed (Ashill) 

• Bio-diversity - management of County wildlife sites (grant system) 

• Travel Plan schemes (business/partners/Breckland Council) 

• Green initiative programmes including partners e.g wind turbine 

• Grant award schemes - public/partners/schools - match funding 
 
 
3.1.7 An invite to the LSP Board members, relevant external contacts & the key internal 
Service Managers was distributed & a meeting took place on February 4th 2-4 PM in the 
Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham. 

 

3.1.8 The key National Indicators (N.I) that were the focus of the E.P.G were as follows: 
 

N.I 186  Per capita reduction in CO2 
N.I 187 Tackling fuel poverty % of people receiving income based benefits living in 
homes with a low energy efficiency rating 
N.I 188  Planning to adapt to climate change 
N.I 197  Improve local bio-diversity –active management of local sites 

 
3.1.9 The proposals that were given the most support from the attendees were as follows: 
 
Virtual Eco – House Project 
 
3.1.10 The aim of this project is to provide a method by which a large proportion of the 
District can access information on how to live an environmentally sustainable life, in 
particular, energy efficiency advice. It would take the form of a virtual web house which 
visitors can freely navigate around. Within each room there will be clearly highlighted 
‘clickable’ objects. Each one brings up an information panel with an average of two 
paragraphs of text, featuring links to related sources of information or potential funding 
available. 
 
3.1.11 Although this idea originally started out with the remit of an exemplar of energy 
efficient living, our research found that the Energy Savings Trust had recently launched their 
own version http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/Home-improvements/The-Energy-Saving-
House.     
 
3.1.12 It was felt that there is still merit in` developing a local version of this site, with 
relevant local information in relation to advice, support, & funding sources etc.  However the 
scope of the virtual house could also be broadened to include advice regarding water 
efficiency, home security & fire safety for example in order to reach a broader audience. 
 
3.1.13 Provisional quotations to develop this site are between £6-8K. If LSP Board members 
are supportive of this project in principle a more detailed brief can be further developed.  It 
would be useful to ascertain which partners would be interested in using the virtual house as 

82



a portal for promoting their own messages. 
 

 
Environment Week 
3.1.14 Breckland Council plans to hold 2 week long events to raise awareness of 
environmental issues.  The events will be held in each of the five market towns, where 
possible on market days. 
 
Spring Clean Week – 14th to 18th April 
3.1.15 This week of events will form part of the month long Breckland Blitz (links to the Pride 
campaign).  The event aims to raise awareness of caring for the environment in which we 
live, & the work which is undertaken to keep our market towns clean & tidy.  The event is still 
being planned, & the following ideas are being further developed: 
 

• An information stand to disseminate the key environmental issues & Pride campaign 

• A perspex box to show visitors how much litter has been collected in their town/area. 

• Joint litter patrols with our Enforcement Officer & the PCSO’s 

• A reward scheme for those who dispose of their litter appropriately 

• A cigarette litter focus 

• A presence by our Cleansing Contractor Serco 
 
Energy Week – August (dates to be confirmed) 
3.1.16 This week of events will aim to raise awareness of the ways in which we can all save 
energy. Ideas in discussion for this event are: 

• Utilising the Energy Bus 

• Energy Saving Trust to attend – Driving simulator 

• Information available on improvements which can be made to properties but also 
easy changes which do not have a cost implication 

• Providing grant/funding information 
 
3.1.17 These events will have no cost implication for the LSP, but resources may be 
required in assisting with venues or the delivery of the events. 
 
3.1.18 An invitation is extended to all LSP Board Members to support us at these events.  If 
partners would like to promote a particular environmental project or campaign of their own at 
these events prior notice will be required to ensure sufficient space can be managed. 
 

3.2 Issues 

3.2.1 The Prime Minister, Rt Hon Gordon Brown MP, set out the challenge recently when he 
said: “our mission is, in truth, historic & world changing – to build over the next fifty years & 
beyond, a global low carbon economy. And it is not overdramatic to say that the character & 
course of the coming century will be set by how we measure up to this challenge.” There is a 
political consensus on the need for action. The Rt Hon David Cameron MP, leader of the 
Opposition, has said: “The long-term nature of the climate change challenge demands a 
framework & disciplines that no government, of any political colour, will ever be able to 
fudge”. 

The Challenge of Climate Change  

3.2.2 There is now consensus among the international community that the world is warming 
& that this is mainly the result of human activities. The evidence for climate change is 
compelling & there is overwhelming agreement among scientists that human activity is the 
cause. There is a growing understanding of how the impacts will vary across the world. The 
UK climate is expected to become warmer, with wetter winters, drier summers, & more 
extreme weather events, such as heavy rain & high winds.  

The Nottingham Declaration  

 
3.2.3 Breckland Council is committed to the Climate Change agenda & will be signing the 

83



Nottingham Declaration by the end of March 09. How committed are the LSP Partners in 
working in partnership with Breckland Council to deliver the climate change agenda. 

3.2.4 The Declaration recognises the central role of local authorities in leading society's 
response to the challenge of climate change. By signing the Declaration councils pledge to 
systematically address the causes of climate change & to prepare their community for its 
impacts. Signing is a public commitment to take action and a catalyst for a more systematic 
response. 

3.2.5 Five reasons to sign the Declaration 

1. Reassure your residents.  
2. Strengthen your council's response. 
3. Perform well.  
4. Save money and access resources. 
5. Improve the quality of life of local communities. 

3.2.6 The Environmental Project Group (EPG) will have resource implications and a 
funding request may be appropriate for the May 14th LSP Board meeting. 

 

3.3 Options 

3.3.1 To note [for information and planning purposes] the contents of this report. 

3.3.2 The LSP Board (Breckland Partnership) to jointly work together to combat climate 
change by utilizing all the skills, knowledge, & resources effectively to create real change 
that will add value for money & in doing so will create an improved environment for the 
communities in which we live, work & visit. 

3.3.3 A publicity launch campaign in terms of the Environmental Project Group & the signing 
up of the Nottingham Declaration & our commitment to make change through the LSP. 

3.4 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

 

3.4.1 The Environmental Project Group requires the support of the LSP Board members in 
order to achieve its objectives of making significant improvements in relation to climate 
change & to promote green initiatives. 

 

3.4.2 Local Performance Framework: The new local performance framework includes 
national indicators (NIs) for: CO2 reduction from local authority (LA) operations; per capita 
reduction in CO2 emissions in the LA area; and planning to adapt to climate change. 90% of 
Local Area Agreements include nationally agreed targets on one or more of these indicators. 
Local authorities' performance on climate change will be assessed within Comprehensive 
Area Assessments undertaken by the Audit Commission. 

 

3.4.3 Kyoto Protocol: The UK Government has signed the Kyoto Protocol, an agreement 
within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. The Protocol commits 
the UK to reduce its emissions of greenhouse gases by 12.5% from 1990 level by 2008-12. 
At the UN Climate Change Conference in Bali in December 2007, participants agreed that 
deep cuts in global emissions will be required, in future and to enter into discussions for a 
post-Kyoto agreement to be agreed by the end of 2009. 

 

3.4.3 The forthcoming Carbon Reduction Commitment & the pressure to cut CO2 together 
with the recession, means there has never been a better time to get buy-in to tackle climate 
change. When combined it puts a greater imperative to save energy & consequently money. 

 

84



The Breckland 

Partnership (LSP)
‘ENVIRONMENTAL  

PROJECT GROUP’ 

4
TH

 FEBRUARY 2009 

2.00 PM NORFOLK ROOM,

ELIZABETH HOUSE 

Attendees:

Mark Fretwell – Partnership Officer (LSP), BDC 

Sarah Bruton – Environmental Services Manager, BDC 

Sarah Simpson – Environmental Awareness Co-ordinator, BDC 

Andrea Long – Environmental Planning Manager. BDC 

Gordon Partridge – Principle Environmental Health Officer, BDC 

Sylvie King – Environmental Services Support Officer, BDC 

David Ovenden – Dereham Area Partnership 

Jan Godfrey – Wayland Partnership

Matt Wicks – Energy Savings Trust 

1. Apologies for absence 

Apologies were received from Martin Seymour, Mike Austin, Paul Elliott, 

Trevor Holden, Mark Stokes, Linda Rogers, Jim Mullenger, John Dixon, Katie 

Elliott, Anita Brennan. 

2 Introductions 

 SB advised that Environmental Services have taken on co-ordination of the 

Environment Strategy and are currently working on the action plan for year 2 

and hope to incorporate partnership projects.

3 Current Projects / Ideas 

Green Village - GP 

This project is designed at working with organisations within villages to get 

them to sign up to be more energy efficient by getting insulation through the 

eaga trust. BDC will get a referral fee from eaga trust and this money will be 

made available for environmental enhancements within the villages.  

Fuel Poverty Programme - GP 

Aimed at helping those in fuel poverty. Giving advice, information and access 

to grants etc. 

Community Compost Scheme - SB 

Encouraging villages to have an area for Communal Composting which will 

reduce the numbers using the brown bin service, thus reducing carbon 

footprint.

Virtual Eco House - SB 

Creating a virtual eco house which will also be an exemplar of fire safety and 

police security. Also links to available grants. Possibility also to train 

developers in creating eco friendly homes.  

Environment Week - SS 

Two week long events to raise awareness of environmental issues.  The events 

85



will be held in each of the five market towns, where possible on market days. 

Community Rangers - SB

Looking to recruit new rangers and the possibility of training them to be able to 

give general advice on energy efficiency / fire safety within their parishes.  

Bio-diversity – Improved management of County Wildlife Sites – AL 

There are a huge number of local, privately owned wildlife sites. Looking to 

encourage owners to participate actively in managing these sites.  

Cittaslow Schemes GP 

Project aimed at bringing the community together by looking at ways of taking 

a step back and having a more sustainable pace of life – Becoming plastic bag 

free, improving buildings / public transport, holding farmers markets and 

installing low energy street lights.

Thermal Imaging Data SS 

BDC are seeking funding for thermal imaging equipment to seek out areas that 

need to be more energy efficient. There is also potential to sell this information 

to industry to recover the costs.

Travel Plans – AL 

Getting businesses to look at how their staff get to and from work and the look 

at ways they could reduce their carbon footprint.

Green Initiatives - MF 

Breckland Council are investigating possibility of having their own wind 

turbine and have taken positive steps in aiding the planning process.  

Grant award scheme - MF 

Funding to be available for environmental projects throughout the district.

Starter Projects 

 It was agreed that the Virtual Eco-House and Environment Week projects are 

to be taken forward to the LSP project board. SB/SS to put together more 

detailed information.  Mark Fretwell to write a report to take to the next LSP 

Board on February 19
th

.

Summary of Actions Owned By Date Required 

Put together more information on key projects to 

take to LSP Project Board.

SB/SS ASAP 

Distribution:

Distributed to all present and apologies 

Author: Sylvie King Date: 09.02.09 

Date & Time of 

Next & Future 

Meetings

1
st
 April  2 – 4

17
th

 June 2 – 4

19
th

 August 10 - 12 

21
st
 October 2 – 4 

Venue: Norfolk Room, 

Elizabeth House, 

Dereham,  

NR19 1EE 

86



9
th

 December 2 - 4 

87



Cleaner I Safer I Greener
Charter for the District of Breckland

The Vision: The Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter genuinely 

involves us all as residents and stakeholders in improving our 

local environment. This Charter can help us all work alongside each 

other and take action on matters that matter most to local people 

to help improve the quality of life in the district.

The Pledge: We, the undersigned, all share the vision for a Cleaner, 

Safer and Greener Breckland. We will continue to listen to our residents’ 

views, support the delivery of all neighbourhood services and work closely 

with the community to help make Breckland a Clean, Safe and Green 

place to live, work and visit.

Breckland Council Peddars Way NCC – Norfolk

Housing Association County Council

Local Strategic Partnership RSL Alliance

Norfolk Fire Service Norfolk Constabulary 

P
h
o
to

: 
C

o
p

yr
ig

h
t 
R

o
b

 E
d

w
a
rd

s

Agenda Item 11

88



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

Report Problems
Breckland

Council

Peddars Way
Housing

Association

Norfolk County
Council

Norfolk
Police

Fire
Brigade

Abandoned or 
Nuisance Vehicles

Anti-Social Behaviour

Crime (inc. Arson)

Dog Fouling

Fire Safety Enquiries
(Commercial)

Free Home Fire
Safety Check

Flyposting

Flytipping

Graffiti

Litter

Litter/Dog Bins
(emptying)

Roads and Pavements 
(conditions of)

Report Problems or 
Issues Promptly

Report Problems or 
Issues Promptly

Street Lighting
Report Problems or 

Issues Promptly
Report Problems or 

Issues Promptly

Vandalism

Waste & Recycling 
(collection)

Report Problems or 

Issues Promptly

Waste & Recycling 
(disposal at recycling centres)

Direct Responsibility Working as a partner with shared responsibility

Who is responsible and who should I contact?

ENCAMS is a national organisation that runs the 

Keep Britain Tidy campaign and the Blue Flag for 

Beaches and Eco-Schools programmes. ENCAMS 

also works closely with housing providers, local 

authorities and other land managers to improve 

local environmental quality and anti-social behaviour. 

They have worked with Breckland Council and 

Peddars Way Housing Association over a number 

of months, engaging with local stakeholders to 

jointly tackle the clean, safe and green issues within 

the district of Breckland. They fully endorse the use 

of the Charter process in setting out local roles and 

responsibilities and support future work through this 

process. Copies of the full charter are available from 

Breckland Council (Telephone: 01362 656870).

Main Contact Telephone Numbers: 

Breckland Council: 01362 656 870

(General Enquiries - Monday to Thursday 

08.00 - 18.00 & Friday 08.00 to 17.00).

Peddars Way Housing Association: 01362 694 858

(General Enquiries Monday to Friday 09.00 to 17.00 

Out-of-Hours Emergency Assistance: 01362 697194). 

If you are not a tenant of Peddars Way then you should contact 

your Landlord in the normal way.

Norfolk County Council: 0844 800 8020 (General Enquiries - 

Monday to Friday 08.00 to 18.00).

Norfolk Police: 0845 456 4567 (Non Emergency Number).

Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service: 01603 810951 (General Enquiries).

Emergency Number: 999
(only in an emergency where there is a danger to life or a crime is in progress) 

Pride in 
Breckland

01362
853296

24 hour answerphone 
to report 

environmental
issues.

3

The Charter

Breckland Council and Peddars Way Housing 

Association share a commitment to create a 

‘Cleaner Safer Greener’ environment. As part 

of this commitment they have established this 

Charter which is a voluntary partnership between 

the Community, Breckland Council, Peddars 

Way Housing Association, all other housing 

associations with homes in Breckland, Norfolk 

Police, Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service, Norfolk 

County Council and other service providers. 

The Charter is a voluntary agreement which sets 

out the rights, responsibilities and expectations 

between residents, social landlords and 

service providers for creating a clean, safe and 

green neighbourhood. It is a shared vision for 

Breckland District which calls on residents to 

play their part in achieving the vision of a Clean, 

Safe and Green Breckland and for residents to 

work with organisations to help improve their 

neighbourhoods.

The Charter allows all involved to focus on these 

issues and agree who is responsible for them; 

by making it clear which services are provided 

and how as residents you are more able to take 

action yourselves. 

The process of developing the Charter for the 

District of Breckland included consultation with 

members of the local community on the clean, 

safe and green issues that matter to them, 

including consultation with other parties to agree 

their responsibilities, resources and response 

times to provide information on who to contact 

and how you the local community can help.

The Charter is designed to strengthen local 

democracy and empower more people to have 

their say in the decisions that affect their quality 

of life, and develop a sense of pride in the district.

Introduction to Cleaner, 
Safer, Greener

All of us use public spaces every time we leave 

our homes. They are the streets and paths we 

walk along to take our children to school, they 

are the shopping areas we all use and the parks 

we play in and the areas where we exercise the 

dog or to simply meet up with friends.

Many of our decisions and activities are 

influenced by our perception of the quality and 

safety of the public areas we encounter. Every 

one of us, every day, take decisions about which 

areas to use and when and how we use them.

What do we mean by Clean, 
Safe and Green?

Cleaner streets free of litter, graffiti and 

flyposting, where people feel safe and children 

can play without fear.

Safer well-lit neighbourhoods free from the 

suffering caused by noisy neighbours and anti-

social behaviour.

Greener communities with parks that are 

attractive and inviting, and open spaces that 

are not blighted by dumped rubbish and 

abandoned vehicles.

Clean, safe and green issues affect the way that 

neighbourhoods look, and, therefore, the way 

that the people living within them feel. Breckland 

Council is taking a proactive approach to dealing 

with these issues in the district, part of which 

is the development of this Cleaner, Safer and 

Greener Charter.

Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

8
9



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

4

What Can You Do?

It’s important that everyone does their bit to help 

look after their neighbourhood. Together we can 

all help through committing to the following: 

  Use the litter bins provided or take litter home 

and recycle it where possible.

Make sure my children know what to do 

with their litter.

  Clean up after my dog and not let it 

out unsupervised.

  Put my bin out for collection by 7am each 

week at the right time and return it when it has 

been emptied. 

  Make sure my bin is not overflowing and 

does not have extra waste next to it.

  Make sure food waste is wrapped and 

binned carefully.

  Use the recycling service provided.

Dispose of your garden waste appropriately 

by composting at home, taking it to a 

Recycling Centre or joining the chargeable 

garden waste scheme.

  Keep the front and back of my property tidy 

and clear of waste items.

Consider my neighbours when I’m 

making noise.

Respect my local area and look after it.

  Report any anti-social behaviour, dog fouling, 

fly-tipping, graffiti, flyposting, faulty streetlights, 

abandoned vehicles or dangerous waste such 

as needles.

5

What can you expect from local 
service providers?

During the process of consultation the 

clean, safe and green issues in need of 

most attention were identified and the 

responsibilities for dealing with that issue were 

established. Below is a summary of each issue 

and the individual commitments to tackling it. 

Abandoned & Nuisance 
Vehicles (including 
Illegal Parking)

Vehicles that are abandoned can display a 

number of indicators such as: no tax; flat 

tyres; crash damage; wheels missing; has 

not moved for some time; missing number 

plates; contains waste or has been vandalised 

or burnt out. A nuisance vehicle is one that 

is poorly parked, causing an obstruction, 

involved in parking disputes, broken down 

or untaxed.

Breckland Council 

Breckland Council will remove any abandoned 

vehicle, while Norfolk County Council will store 

and dispose of any abandoned vehicle. 

We will investigate any reports of abandoned 

vehicles within 24 hours of notification.

We will contact registered owners where 

appropriate.

We will remove vehicles 24 hours after they 

are deemed abandoned.

Norfolk County Council will attempt to 

recover the costs from the registered owner.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will report any abandoned vehicles to 

Breckland Council.

Norfolk Police

We will inspect all reports of abandoned 

vehicles within 24 hours of notification.

We will make an emergency response if the 

circumstances indicate a possible danger 

to life.

We will liaise with the authorities with 

responsibility for removing abandoned 

vehicles.

We have powers to deal with the obstruction 

of the highway by a vehicle and vehicles 

that are left in a dangerous condition or 

circumstances. Offences can result in the 

removal of the offending vehicle and/or 

a fixed penalty notice. In some cases, 

prosecution could lead to a fine and even 

disqualification from driving.

9
0



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service

We will liaise directly with Norfolk Police and 

Breckland Council to assist with clearance 

of abandoned vehicles.

We will make an emergency response if an 

abandoned vehicle is involved in fire.

We will continue to act as a key stakeholder 

in those partnership activities that directly 

and indirectly impact on the reduction of 

abandoned vehicles.

Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime & Safety 

Breckland Council

We will adopt a policy of zero tolerance to 

anti-social behaviour.

We will work with other agencies to ensure 

appropriate action is taken against those 

who commit nuisance and anti-social 

behaviour.

We are working with our partners within 

Breckland District Community Safety 

Partnership to provide a safe, crime free 

environment for all.

We will take positive action in the community 

to significantly reduce resident’s perception 

that Breckland is affected by anti-social 

behaviour.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will work with partner agencies at 

strategic and operational levels to provide a 

holistic response to anti-social behaviour.

We will work actively with local partnerships 

to improve services and reduce anti-social 

behaviour at a very local level.

We will work with partners to prevent 

anti-social behaviour as well as ensuring 

early interventions and engagement with 

residents in settling local priorities.

We will also work with partners to promote 

the action/success in tackling anti-social 

behaviour.

We will tackle anti-social behaviour in a fair 

and consistent manner, taking into account 

the needs of all stakeholders, including 

minority ethnic groups and other district 

groupings within the community.

We will ensure that Tenancy Agreements 

contain clearly written and appropriate 

clauses concerning our stance on anti-

social behaviour and the procedures 

and sanctions that may be taken if the 

agreement is broken.

We will tackle incidents of racial harassment 

through a robust approach using protocols 

for racism where adopted.

We will ensure residents feel empowered 

to report anti-social behaviour in its various 

forms and provide appropriate approach 

to the investigation of complaints including 

necessary support.

We will deal swiftly and effectively with 

anti-social behaviour in the environment, 

focusing on reducing the instances 

of damage, the dumping of rubbish, 

abandoned vehicles and graffiti.

We will provide and support the use of a 

comprehensive range of measures to help 

resolve complaints of anti-social behaviour, 

including the use of information resolutions, 

acceptable behaviour contracts, mediation, 

7

effective witness support mechanisms and 

professional witness schemes ensuring 

the use of appropriate civil and criminal 

legislation where necessary.

We will actively support the victim and 

witnesses and view this as crucial to tackling 

and preventing anti-social behaviour.

We will support rehabilitation initiatives 

which seek to have a positive impact on the 

behaviour of a perpetrator.

We will actively support the use of Tenancy 

Support initiatives as a means of assisting in 

the prevention of anti-social behaviour.

Norfolk Police

We will patrol and work with our partners to 

improve confidence and satisfaction, reduce 

crime, anti-social behaviour and the fear of 

crime and to bring offenders to justice if a 

crime occurs.

We will visit residents and premises in 

affected areas to establish the extent of 

the problem and issue anti-social 

behaviour diaries.

We will identify and positively deal with 

offenders when found and confiscate 

alcohol from under age youths and 

inform parents.

Respond to all reports of anti-social 

behaviour from residents’ calls.

Liaise with Peddars Way Housing 

Association regarding any breaches of 

housing agreements by individuals in 

the area.

Liaise with Breckland CCTV with regard 

to monitoring locations and the reporting 

of anti-social behaviour to the Safer 

Neighbourhood Teams.

We will work with Norfolk Youth and 

Community Service personnel to assist with 

diversionary activities.

We will work with other agencies to ensure 

appropriate action is taken against those 

who commit nuisance and anti-social 

behaviour.

We will employ a range of interventions, 

including visits, dialogue with concerned 

parties, Acceptable Behaviour, Parenting 

and Good Neighbour Contracts and will, 

if necessary, seek Anti-Social Behaviour 

Orders in appropriate circumstances.

6

9
1



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

8 9

Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

We will investigate the circumstances 

fully and consider prosecuting anyone 

responsible for anti-social or other 

offending behaviour.

Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service

We will work with our partners at both 

strategic and operational level in order to 

identify ways to reduce the instances of 

anti-social behaviour.

We will assist in problem solving activities 

and provide intervention where needed.

We will provide Fire Setter education as 

an intervention tool where circumstances 

dictate.

We will continue to act as a key stakeholder 

in those partnership activities that directly 

or indirectly impact on the reduction of 

anti-social behaviour.

We will deliver key stage 1 and key stage 4

education packages to our local schools.

Dog Fouling 

Breckland Council

We will ensure that all land that we have a 

duty to clear shall be free of dog excrement.

We will respond to reports of dog fouling on 

public land within 5 working days of request.

We will prosecute anyone who does not pick 

up after their dog providing there is sufficient 

evidence.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will ensure that all of our land shall be 

free of dog excrement.

We will work alongside Breckland Council 

to prosecute owners for allowing their dogs 

to foul. 

Fire Safety Enquiries 
(Commercial)

Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service

We will respond to a fire safety complaint 

within 24 hours of receipt.

We will endeavour to respond to all other 

general fire safety enquiries as soon as 

practicable.

Home Fire Risk Checks

Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service

We will respond to all requests for a Home 

Fire Safety check in the following timescales:

- Over 65 and infirm within 7 days

- Other priority groups within 28 days

- All other enquiries within 56 days

We will share risk critical information with our 

partner agencies once consent has been 

sought from the home owner.

We will fit standard 10 year life smoke 

detectors where required free of any charge.

We will fit specialised smoke detector units 

for the hard of hearing where required free 

of any charge.

We will continue to identify priority groups 

through a number of partnership referral 

schemes.

Flyposting

Breckland Council

We will remove all flyposting within 5 working 

days of notification.

We will work with property owners to 

address any problems.

All reports of flyposting within Breckland 

will be investigated and appropriate legal 

proceedings instituted where evidence 

is sufficient, in line with the Council’s 

Enforcement Policy. Successful enforcement 

action can lead to the issue of an £80 fixed 

penalty notice.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will remove flyposting from our property 

as soon as possible.

We will prosecute anyone found to be 

committing this offence on our property.

Norfolk Police

We will act on information received from 

the public and our own enquiries in order 

to identify and take action against those 

responsible.

We will act on intelligence to target areas 

where flyposting is known to be a problem. 

Flytipping

Breckland Council

We will remove flytipping the next working 

day when reported on public land (it is then 

disposed of by Norfolk County Council).

Hazardous waste may require specialised 

disposal techniques, resulting in an 

extended removal time.

We will prosecute all flytippers where we 

have sufficient evidence. 

We will name and shame offenders.

We will carry out surveillance of areas used 

for flytipping.

We will examine the waste and trace it to its 

owners where possible.

Householders are responsible for any waste 

produced from their property, so need to 

ensure the company removing any waste is 

a registered waste carrier.

If you see someone flytipping please contact 

us providing as many details are possible 

such as names, description, what has been 

tipped, details of vehicle, time and date. 

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will remove flytipping within 24 hours 

from our property.

We will inform Breckland Council of any 

flytipping on their land within 24 hours.

We will prosecute anyone found to be 

committing this offence on Peddars 

Way land.

Norfolk Police

We will act on information received from the 

public and our own enquiries in order to 

identify and prosecute those responsible for 

this offence.

We will act on intelligence to target areas 

where flytipping is known to be a problem. 

9
2



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

1110

We will engage with the local community to 

keep your area clean.

We will issue Fixed Penalty Notices of £80 to 

anyone caught littering.

If you witness anyone dropping litter from 

a vehicle, contact the pride line and we 

will investigate and take the appropriate 

enforcement action, which could result in a 

£80 Fixed Penalty Notice being issued.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will maintain a high level of cleanliness 

on Peddars Way land by carrying out regular 

estate inspections.

Norfolk Police

We will liaise with Breckland Council street 

scene to clear litter in the area.

We will take action against anyone seen to 

drop litter in the street or other public areas.

Police Community Support Officers 

(PCSO’s) are able to enforce/issue Fixed 

Penalty Notices for littering.

Graffiti

Breckland Council

We will remove offensive or racist graffiti 

within 24 hours of notification from buildings 

under our ownership.

We will remove other graffiti within 14

working days of notification from buildings 

under our ownership.

We will work with the Police to prosecute 

anyone found to be committing this offence. 

We will develop Service Level Agreements 

with other property owners on removal of 

graffiti e.g. Public Utilities. 

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will remove offensive or racist graffiti on 

our property within 24 hours of notification.

We will remove other graffiti on our property 

within 5 working days of notification.

We will liaise with other agencies to have 

graffiti removed from their property.

We will prosecute anyone found to be 

committing this offence on our property.

Norfolk Police

Graffiti is considered to be a form of 

criminal damage. We will act on intelligence, 

information from the public and make our 

own enquiries to target individuals and 

areas where graffiti occurs.

We will prioritise enquiries when graffiti is 

offensive or incites hate.

We aim to prosecute anyone found 

committing the offence and seek an ASBO 

in appropriate circumstances and we 

will also seek Restorative Justice when 

appropriate, including the option that 

persons responsible for the offence may 

have to clean up graffiti.

Litter

Breckland Council

We will maintain a high level of cleanliness 

across the district. 

We will remove any dead animals on the 

highway within 24 hours.

Litter Bins

Breckland Council

We will empty litter bins that are ¾ plus full.

If you think a bin needs emptying, contact 

Breckland and we will empty the litter bin 

within 5 working days.

All bins can be used for dog waste.

If a General Litter Bin/Dog Bin needs 

replacing, please contact your local 

Parish/Town Council.

Requests for cigarette bins can be made to 

Breckland Council who will inspect the site 

and decide if it’s suitable for a cigarette bin. 

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will provide litter bins alongside new 

environmental improvement works.

Roads and Pavements

Breckland Council

We will liaise with the County Council in the 

reporting of problems promptly.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will liaise with the County Council in the 

reporting of problems promptly.

Wherever possible we will offer ‘off street’ 

parking to all tenants as part of the 

modernisation programme.

Permission is always required to drop the 

kerb outside your property.

Norfolk County Council

We are the local highway authority and we 

are responsible for roads in Norfolk. The 

exception being: A11, A47 and A12 and 

roads within the City of Norwich.

We have a duty to maintain our highways to 

safe and serviceable standards.

We have a duty to ensure that they are free 

from nuisance, danger, obstruction, unlawful 

stopping, interference and encroachments.

We have a duty to protect the rights of the 

public to use and enjoy such highways.

We work to protect, manage and improve 

Public Rights of Way and access to the 

countryside.

Street Lighting

Norfolk County Council

Maintenance of street lighting in the 

Breckland District is carried out by Norfolk 

County Council, who is responsible for 

46,507 street lights, 8,289 illuminated signs 

and 2,405 bollards.

We aim to carry out all repairs within our 

control within 7 days of a report being 

received.

Vandalism

Breckland Council

We will repair acts of vandalism 

where appropriate.

We will prosecute anyone caught 

vandalising our property.

Peddars Way Housing Association and 

other Housing Associations

We will prosecute anyone caught 

vandalising our property.

We will repair vandalism to our property as 

quickly as possible.

We will consider environmental 

improvements to deter vandalism.

We will ‘design in’ anti-vandalism within 

all improvement works.

Norfolk Police

‘Vandalism’ amounts to criminal damage 

to property, whether it is public or privately 

Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

9
3



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

12 13

owned. We will provide high visibility 

patrols and make other enquiries to prevent 

offences of criminal damage and bring 

offenders to justice.

We will consider the whole range of 

penalties against those responsible for this 

offence, including prosecution and seeking 

ASBOs in appropriate cases.

Waste & Recycling

Breckland Council 

The waste and recycling collection scheme 

is an alternate weekly collection scheme, 

collecting rubbish one week and recyclables 

the next week. 

The majority of households are provided 

with two wheeled bins; a green bin for 

rubbish and a black bin for recyclables. 

We do not collect side waste and bin lids 

must be closed.

Bulky household waste such as fridges, 

cookers, sofas, bed frames/bases, furniture 

and garden waste can be disposed of free 

of charge at the following recycling centres: 

Ashill, Thetford, Snetterton or Hempton.

If you are unable to take your bulky waste 

to a recycling centre, we offer a chargeable 

collection service.

We will collect the items from your property 

within 10 working days with payment being 

received prior to collection.

If you are unable to take your garden waste 

to a Recycling Centre, we offer a chargeable 

collection service. 

Norfolk County Council

We provide the 19 recycling centres across 

the county where residents can recycle 

and dispose of their household rubbish free 

of charge.

‘Happy to Help’ is making our recycling 

centres as user-friendly as possible, with 

uniformed staff ready to help and advise. 

Low level access to bins and a wider range 

of materials that can be recycled are some 

of the improvements that have been made.

Breckland Council

Breckland is one of the largest District Council 

areas in England, as well as being one of the 

most sparsely populated areas. Much of the 

district is rural, given over to agriculture and 

heathland (mainly ‘The Brecks’, from which the 

district takes its name).

The population is divided between the five 

market towns of Attleborough, Dereham, 

Swaffham, Thetford and Watton and 107 rural 

parishes. It also has one of the fastest growing 

areas in the county with a population increase 

of 13.3% in the last 10 years compared to the 

national average of 2.5%. The population is 

mainly indigenous, although there is a growing 

Portuguese community for example. The Index 

of Multiple Deprivation, which is a measure of 

deprivation that takes into account a range of 

factors relating to income, employment, health, 

housing, access to services, and child poverty, 

identifies pockets of deprivation in six of the 36

wards spread across the district.

Breckland Council is striving to make a 

valuable contribution to the quality of life of 

people who visit, live or work in Breckland. 

Their vision is:

“To make Breckland a better place by 

listening to people’s needs and providing 

solutions that enhance their quality of life.”

Peddars Way 
Housing Association

Predominantly working in Norfolk, the core 

business of Peddars Way is to provide quality, 

well-managed homes to its tenants and 

service users, with good estate management, 

effective handling of anti-social behaviour 

and the improvement in the quality of the 

environment in which its tenants live.

As a member of Flagship Housing Group, 

Peddars Way has a successful Development 

Programme which has led to the provision 

of quality homes within a number of 20 Local 

Authority areas throughout the Eastern region, 

although the vast majority are based within 

Norfolk. The Association continues to be 

committed to vulnerable people across the 

region and is working closely with Flagship 

Housing Group, as well as voluntary and 

statutory organisations, to meet the needs of 

its customers.

Peddars Way is committed to involving its 

customers and stakeholders, challenging 

how the service could be better delivered and 

comparing itself against alternative providers.

Breckland Community 
Safety Partnership

The partnership brings together Breckland 

Council, Norfolk County Council, Norfolk 

Police, Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service and 

many other local partners such as Peddars 

Way Housing Association, to help tackle crime 

and disorder within the area. The Partnership 

was formed in response to the Crime and 

Disorder Act 1998.

It covers all the district and involves working 

closely with a wide range of other partners 

- the Police Authority, Probation Service, 

Primary Care Trusts, Fire Service, local 

businesses, Registered Social Landlords 

such as Peddars Way Housing Association, 

community and voluntary organisations 

- anyone involved in community safety – to 

develop a strategy that will form the basis for 

combating crime and disorder. 

One of the key strategic priorities for the 

Breckland Community Safety Partnership is 

Anti-Social Behaviour and Criminal Damage. 

The aim of this priority is to reduce the number 

of incidences of criminal damage and anti-

social behaviour by addressing the problems 

caused in areas of high occurrences.

Breckland Local 
Strategic Partnership 

The Local Strategic Partnership for Breckland 

(LSP), which includes the Council, Police, 

Education and Health Authorities as well 

as local businesses, was set up in 2003

to develop more effective ways of working 

together to achieve better results for 

local people.

Following extensive consultation with all the 

residents in the district, Breckland LSP has 

produced a Community Plan for Breckland. 

The LSP has used feedback and ideas 

received to identify the most important 

priorities for local people, and to prioritise 

action plans for the first three years for 

improving the quality of life in the district. 

The Community Plan for Breckland is the 

starting point for joint action and a long term 

plan developed by the LSP to improve the 

quality of life for people working in, living in 

and moving to the district. It aims to reflect 

the main priorities of Breckland residents and 

to develop a shared vision for public, private, 

voluntary and community partners.

We would like to express our thanks and 

appreciation to all the residents who took part 

in the Consultation with Resident Panels in 

Thetford on 30th April, in Dereham on 4th June 

and the postal surveys in late June/early July.

Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

9
4



Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

14

Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter for the District of Breckland

Bulky Waste Collection Service

Serco, Unit 7, 

Rashs Green, 

Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1JG.

Tel: 01362 656 878

Norfolk County Council

County Hall, 

Martineau Lane, Norwich, 

Norfolk, NR1 2DH. 

General Enquiries: 0844 800 8020

(Mon to Fri 08.00-18.00)

Textphone: 0844 800 8011

Email: information@norfolk.gov.uk

Roads & Pavements: 0844 800 8009

Email: highways@norfolk.gov.uk

Street Lighting Incidents:

0844 800 8008

Email: streetlighting@norfolk.gov.uk

Recycling Centres: 0844 800 8004

Email: information@norfolk.gov.uk

Peddars Way Housing Association

Michael Chaplin House, 

Station Road, Dereham, 

Norfolk, NR19 1DA.

Tel: 01362 694 858

(Mon to Fri 09.00 to 17.00) 

Out of Hours Emergency Assistance:

01362 697194

Email: pwha@flagship-housing.co.uk

Where you are living in a property owned by 

another Registered Social Landlord, then you 

should contact them directly via the number 

which has been provided by your landlord.

Norfolk Police

There are four Safer Neighbourhood Teams 

within Breckland District, each headed 

by an Inspector. They are centred on 

Dereham, Swaffham & Watton, Thetford 

and Attleborough.

Police Emergency Number: 999

(only in an emergency where there is a danger 

to life or a crime is in progress)

Non-Emergency Number:

0845 456 4567 (for non-emergencies where 

Police attendance is required, to report a crime 

or to report other incidents)

Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service

Fire Service Emergency Number: 999

(only in an emergency where there is a 

danger to life)

Fire Safety Information: 

Tel: 01603 810351

www.norfolkfireservice.gov.uk

Household Waste & Recycling Sites:

Ashill: between South Pickenham and Ashill 

on the B1077 Swaffham to Watton Road.

Thetford: Burrell Way (close to Sainsbury’s 

Supermarket)

Snetterton: Snetterton Heath. Leave A11 at 

Snetterton Race Track (approx ¼ mile past 

race track entrance on the left hand side just 

before a sharp right hand bend)

Hempton: Helhoughton Road, Fakenham. 

(Take A1065 south out of Fakenham. The 

Recycling Centre is signed from the A1065

on the ‘S’ bend).

RSL ALLIANCE

Cotman Housing Association 

Cotman House, Bowthorpe Hall, 

Bowthorpe Hall Road, 

Norwich, Norfolk, NR5 9AD.

Tel: 01603 731699

Fax: 01603 731698

Out of Hours Emergency Assistance:

01603 412180

Email: office@cotman-housing.org.uk

The Guinness Trust 

1st Floor, 69-75 Thorpe Road, 

Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 1UA. 

DD: 01603 728961

Switchboard: 01603 627601

Fax: 01603 628645

Email: east@guinness.org.uk

Wherry Housing Association

Anglia House, 6 Central Avenue, 

St. Andrews Business Park, 

Norwich, Norfolk, NR7 0HR.

Office hours: 08:30-17:00

Freephone: 0800 694 0165

Tel: 01603 703500

Fax: 01603 700404

Email: wherryinfo@circleanglia.org

Broadland Housing Association

7 Aldiss Court, High Street,

Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1TS.

Tel: 0845 331 2323

www.broadlandhousing.org

Orbit East 

14 St. Matthews Road,

Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 1SP.

Tel: 0845 600 2535

(24 hour Customer Services Centre)

Email: info@orbit.org.uk

Stonham HomeStay

Heath House, 5 Woolgate Court,

St. Benedict’s Street,

Norwich, Norfolk, NR2 4AP.

Tel: 0845 155 0390

Email: StonhamHomeStayNorfolk@

homegroup.org.uk

Members of Parliament:

Christopher Fraser, MP for South West Norfolk

Shirley House, 

23 London Street, 

Swaffham, PE37 7DD.

Tel: 01760 336633

Keith Simpson, MP for Mid Norfolk

The Old Smithy, 

Church Fern, 

Attlebridge,

Norfolk, NR9 5ST.

Tel: 0207 2194053

Email: keithsimpson@parliament.uk

The Future of the Charter 

This Charter was developed through a 

partnership between Breckland Council 

and Peddars Way Housing Association 

supported by ENCAMS between April and 

November 2008. It is designed to be part of 

a continual process of partnership working 

to achieve the Vision of a Clean, Safe and 

Green neighbourhood. Breckland Council 

will continue to work toward this Vision. If you 

would like more information on how this work 

will progress, please contact the Breckland 

Council office.

Information within this Charter was gathered 

from the following websites and documents:

• Breckland LSP Sustainable 

Community Strategy

• Breckland Council Website

• Breckland Council Business Plan 2008-2014

• Breckland Council Delivery Plan 2006/07

• Peddars Way Housing Association Anti-

Social Behaviour Policy and Business Plan

• Norfolk County Council Website

• Norfolk Police Website

• Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service Website

Who can I contact to report or 
discuss issues?

Below are the details of service providers who 

deal with Clean, Safe and Green issues in 

your area: 

To report incidents of Litter, Graffiti, Flytipping, 

Waste collection issues, Dog Fouling, Litter 

Bin requests, Damage to Roads, Pavements, 

Obstructions, Street Furniture, Excessive Noise 

and Anti-Social Behaviour issues, contact: 

Breckland Council

Elizabeth House, 

Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE. 

Tel: 01362 656 870

(Mon to Thu 08.00-18.00 and Friday 08.00-17.00)

Email: contactus@breckland.gov.uk

9
5



Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,

Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE

www.breckland.gov.uk

Designed and produced by ETT Marcoms www.ett.co.uk

96



BRECKLAND PARTNERSHIP 
 

19 February 2009 
 

Report of Melanie Buttery, Governance & Performance Accountant, Breckland Council 
 

Matrix for Assessing L.S.P Risk 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide a risk scoring matrix for assessing LSP risks and the management of those 
          risks, for consideration by the LSP Board Members, with the view of adopting the           
          matrix to use during the LSP Risk Workshop on 23rd March 09. 
 

 

2. Recommendations 
 It is recommended that the LSP Board: 
 
2.1 Note [for information and planning purposes] the contents of this report 
 
2.2    To agree and adopt the proposed 3 x 3 risk scoring matrix to assess and prioritise LSP      
         risks, and the management of those risks. 
 

 

3. Information, Issues and Options 

3.1 Background 

  
3.1.1 Good risk management is integral to delivering a successful partnership. It is about being risk   
aware, not risk adverse. Partnerships bring significant opportunities and can help to deliver better 
outcomes for service users. They can enable innovation and may bring additional resources to 
help solve complex issues that cannot be tackled effectively by any individual organisation working 
alone. However, when working across organisational boundaries issues can arise, for example, 
around governance, accountability and risk. 

 
3.1.2 The new CAA Use of Resources Assessment for District Council’s fully embraces the 
importance of partnership working, and states that ‘Effective risk management is essential for an 
organisation and its partners to achieve strategic objectives and improve outcomes for local 
people. Most organisations focus on processes for example, risk registers, rather than using risk 
management effectively. There needs to be strong leadership from senior officers and members, 
clear strategies and trained and engaged staff’ 

 
3.1.3 In order to fully utilise the LSP to achieve successful outcomes for the community, Breckland 
Council has arranged for a couple of Members of the Lincolnshire Risk Management Group 
(GLRMG), to help run a risk workshop for the LSP Board. Therefore, before this workshop takes 
place the Board needs to agree on a risk scoring matrix. A risk matrix is used to assess the level of 
risk associated with achieving each objective.  This enables the LSP Board to prioritise risks and 
identify those that pose the greatest threat (or opportunity) to the partnership. 
 
3.1.4  Risks are assessed in terms of: 

• Likelihood - how likely is the risk to occur?  

• Impact – what would the impact be if it did occur? 
 
3.1.5 These two scores can then be combined (likelihood x impact) to provide an overall risk score.  
This risk score can then be plotted on the risk matrix.  The risk matrix will indicate the overall risk 
category (low, medium, high) for each risk as well as the how that risk should be managed.  

 
3.1.6 Breckland Council has adopted the Norfolk County Council Good Governance in 
Partnerships Guidelines, and included a 3 x 3 matrix which is described below: 

Agenda Item 12

97



Likelihood: 

 

Score  Description Definition  
 

3 

Red 
High  

Has happened in the past year; or  
Is expected to happen in the next year 
More than 50% probability 
 

2 

Amber 
Medium 

Has happened in the past 2 – 5 years; or 
Is expected to happen in the next 2-5 years 
Between 25% to 50% probability 
 

1 

Green 
Low 

Has not happened in the past 5 years or more; or 
Is not expected to happen in the next 5 years or more 
Between 1% to 25% probability 
 

Impact: 

. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Score Description Example Detail 

3 
Red 
High 

Death or life threatening 
Serious service failure impacts on vulnerable groups 
Negative national publicity, highly damaging, severe loss of public confidence 
Serious impact felt across the partners  
Legal action almost certain and difficult to defend 
Severe costs incurred budgetary impact on whole Council, impact on other 
services, Statutory intervention triggered. 
Non-compliance with law resulting in imprisonment 
Loss of, or permanent damage to, ‘priority’ environmental/historic resources 
Non delivery of partnership objectives and significantly affects BC Corporate 
objectives 

2 
Amber 
Medium 

Extensive, permanent/long term injury or long term sick 
Service failure impacts on property or non-vulnerable groups 
Negative local publicity, some loss of confidence, needs careful public relations 
Expected impact, but manageable within Partnership contingency plans 
Legal action expected 
Significant costs incurred, re-jig of budgets required, Service level budgets 
exceeded. 
Non-compliance with law resulting in fines 
Recoverable damage to partnership ‘priority’, or loss of ‘non-priority’, 
environmental/historic resources  
Partial failure to partnership objectives 

1 
Green 
Low 

Short term sick absence, first aid or medical treatment required 
Some risk to normal service but manageable within partnership contingency 
arrangements 
Little if any scope for impact on vulnerable groups 
Possible negative customer complaints, unlikely to cause adverse publicity, no 
damage to partnership reputation  
Possible impact, but manageable locally by Partnership Board Members 
Legal action possible but unlikely and defendable 
Some costs incurred, minor impact on budgets, handled within management 
responsibilities.  
Non-compliance with regulations / standards or local procedures resulting in 
disciplinary action. 
Recoverable damage to ‘non-priority’ environmental/historic resources 
No effect on delivering partnership objective fully 

98



 
Once the likelihood and impact score have been multiplied the total score can be plotted on 
the matrix. The risk matrix will indicate the overall risk category (low, medium, high) for 
each risk as well as the how that risk should be managed. 

 
  

High 
(3) 

3 6 9 

Medium 
(2) 

2 4 6 

I 
M 
P 
A 
C 
T 
 

Low 
(1) 

1 2 3 

 
Low 
(1) 

Medium 
(2) 

High 
(3) 

 
Likelihood 

 
 

KEY TO 
MATRIX 

RISK 
CATEGORY 

HOW THE RISK SHOULD BE MANAGED 

  
High Risk    
 (6-9) 

Immediate action required, Senior Management must be involved and 
management responsibility specified 

  
Medium Risk  

(3-4) 
Management responsibility specified and manage by specific monitoring or 

response procedures 

  

Low Risk    
 (1-2) 

Manage by routine procedures, unlikely to need specific or significant 
application of resources 

 

 

3.2 Issues 

3.2.1    Ineffective risk management within partnership working may lead to: 

• poor working relationships and lack of engagement,  

• projects not realising benefits 

• community outcomes not achieved against agreed priorities  

• reputational damage (negative media attention) 

• poor value for money  

• missed opportunities to secure cashable efficiencies gains and contribute towards 
sustainability targets 

3.3 Options 

3.3.1 LSP Board Members to agree and adopt the 3 x 3 risk matrix, and proposed management 
of risks example included in this report. 

99



 

3.3.2 Adapt the impact, likelihood or management criteria as the LSP Board Members see fit for 
the LSP partnership, in order that a consensus is reached. 

3.3.3 LSP Board Members propose, agree and adopt an alternative risk matrix or risk managed 
process more suited to the partnerships needs. 

3.4 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.4.1 To help embed a good level of member/officer understating of risk management within the 
LSP. It has been recommended that the LSP introduces a 3 x 3 Risk Matrix, on the basis 
that a 3 x 3 matrix provides a clear quantitative evaluation. Breckland believes this 
judgement about the level of analysis most practicable for the Partnership.   

 
 
 

100



BRECKLAND PARTNERSHIP 
 

19 FEBRUARY 2009 
 

Report of Mark Fretwell, Partnership (LSP) Officer, Breckland Council 
 

The Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) & Local Development Framework (LDF)  
 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To update the LSP Board Members on progress with the Local Development 
Framework (LDF) and to provide further clarification on the relationship between the 
Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) and the LDF Core Strategy.  

 

2. Recommendations 
 
 It is recommended that the LSP Board: 
 
2.1    Note [for information and planning purposes] the contents of this report 
 
2.2 Due consideration is given to the role of the LSP Board in co-ordinating & managing 

the growth agenda in Breckland.  

 

3. Background  

What is the Local Development Framework (LDF)? 
 
3.1.1 The LDF is the spatial strategy for the area.  It aims to: Set a spatial vision for the area 
with clear economic, social and environmental objectives; Consider the needs and 
aspirations of Breckland residents; and Achieve an integrated approach to regeneration and 
the delivery of required development  
 
3.1.2 The Breckland LDF is made up of a number of documents which will enable and 
manage future land-use and development in the District.  The overarching document is the 
Core Strategy and Policies document from which the Area Action Plans will be developed for 
Attleborough and Thetford together with a Site Specifics document for the rest of the District.  
 
How do the LDF and SCS link? 
 
3.1.3 The Local Government White Paper outlines the need for coherence between the 
LSP’s Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) and the Local Planning Authorities’ Local 
Development Framework (LDF).  Furthermore planning law requires that LDF’s must have 
due “regard” to the contents of the SCS.   
 

3.1.4 To improve collaboration between planning and LSP’s, guidance was published in 
January 2007 by the Government’s Communities and Local Government department in the 
form of a practice guide called “Planning Together: Local Strategic Partnerships and Spatial 
Planning”.  To date the Breckland LDF and SCS have been prepared in line with this 
guidance note.  
 
3.1.5 Breckland is well underway with the preparation of its Local Development Framework.  
Work has focussed on developing the overall strategy and the policies which will shape 
development in the District to 2026.  This has culminated in the publication of the Core 
Strategy and Policies document at the start of the year.   Representations received during 
the publication period will be considered by an independent Government Inspector who will 
consider the arguments at an Examination in Public on the LDF to be held in July.   
 
 

Agenda Item 13

101



3.1.6 A key area which will be tested on the LDF is whether the strategy is deliverable and 
whether there is a sound understanding of what infrastructure is needed, the estimated costs 
and when it is likely to be implemented. As the LSP Board may be aware, Breckland is in 
line to accommodate significant growth over the next 15-20 years, including 12,000 net new 
homes and up to 12,700 net new jobs.   The majority of growth is being directed to locations 
along the A11 corridor including Thetford and Attleborough and strategic employment growth 
at Snetterton.    Elsewhere the market towns of Dereham, Swaffham and Watton will see 
modest growth (100s homes rather than 1000s) and 14 larger villages have been identified 
as Local Service Centre villages including 4 which will see some growth (Harling, 
Narborough, Shipdham & Swanton Morley).  The primary purpose of Local Service Centre 
villages is to maintain and improve service provision in the rural communities. 
 
3.1.7 The growth agenda in the LDF is directly related to a number of National Indicators 
(see below) and the policies in the LDF indirectly cut across a wide range of Indicators (i.e. 
employment, environmental sustainability, access to services etc).   
 
NI 154 – Net additional homes provided (annual)  
NI 155 - Number of affordable homes delivered (gross) 
NI 159 -  Supply of ready to develop housing sites 
NI 170 - Previously developed land that has been vacant or derelict for more 
than 5 years 
 
3.1.8 The emerging LDF Core Strategy and the SCS have been prepared to reflect one 
another, not least through the development of a shared evidence base during 2007.  In 
essence, the LDF is the spatial expression of the SCS in terms of articulating the land 
requirements arising from those areas where focus for action identified (i.e. homes, thriving 
economy, access to services and environmental sustainability).   

3.2 Issues 

3.2.1 Ensuring the growth agenda delivers sustainable communities in Breckland is a key 
issue facing everyone responsible for delivering services in Breckland. From the community 
consultation and stakeholder engagement undertaken on the LDF it is clear that the growth 
agenda in Breckland (and across the East of England) is raising concerns about the timely 
delivery of infrastructure.   The overall infrastructure bill linked with growth in Breckland is 
currently estimated at £326million and this includes education, health, transport and utilities.   
Increasingly the planning system is looking for development to “consume its own smoke” 
and pay for the direct impacts on infrastructure and services arising from the development.  
Tariffs and the proposed ‘Community Infrastructure Levy’ on new development are one 
mechanism which authorities can explore to augment the mainstream public funding being 
lined up to support growth.   

3.2.2 One approach that is being adopted in some growth areas is to use the Local Strategic 
Partnership (LSP) to coordinate and manage the growth agenda. LSP’s can be well placed 
to take on this role as they have a broad membership including the key infrastructure 
providers and service delivery agencies. Importantly they are serviced by a team of Local 
Authority Officers who have an understanding of the growth and development functions of 
the Council and are subject to scrutiny from local elected members. Finally, given LSP’s 
wider remit to develop and deliver A Sustainable Community Strategy they can ensure that 
the growth agenda contributes to the wider regeneration objectives of the district. 

3.2.3 This is an approach that has been developed by Huntingdonshire District Council 
where the current governance and support arrangements in HDC are focussed on the 
Growth and Infrastructure Group of the Huntingdonshire Strategic Partnership.  The growth 
and Infrastructure Group is the Project Board for the Huntingdonshire Local Investment 
Framework (LIF) and, as such, are charged with co-ordinating the delivery of the 
infrastructure necessary to support the growth framework. 

3.2.4 The Growth and Infrastructure Group includes representatives from the HDC’s service 
departments, CCC Education and Transport departments and NHS Cambridge and is 
supported by staff from HDC’s Democratic Services, Planning and Regeneration 
departments. As required the Group will bring in representatives from the Environment 

102



Agency, Utility companies and Emergency Services.  

 3.2.5 The terms of reference for the Growth and Infrastructure Group could include: 

• To support and co-ordinate, as appropriate, the strategic growth and infrastructure 
development for Breckland, through the delivery of actions relating to key plans 
including the Local Investment Framework; 

• To act as Project Board for the delivery of the Investment Framework for the District; 

• To ensure the co-ordination and delivery of the growth and infrastructure elements of 

the Breckland Sustainable Community Strategy; and 

• To ensure stakeholders have engaged in the process of strategy development and 

implementation on growth and infrastructure related issues. 

 

3.2.6 As the growth agenda moves forward, structures and responsibilities for delivering the 
growth in a sustainable way will need to be defined.  The co-ordination of the overall 
infrastructure provision will require appropriate delivery mechanisms to be put in place.  
Experiences from other growth areas have identified the importance of the ‘ringmaster’ and 
‘banker’ roles.  The Ringmaster role requires a body to act as the fulcrum between the 
plethora of public agencies involved and the private developers (in terms of the contributions 
from new developments).  The ringmaster role will essentially co-ordinate and commission 
infrastructure, facilities and services.    
 
3.2.7 On this basis the role of the Partnership will need to evolve as the area faces new 
opportunities and challenges to increasingly deliver services that meet established and 
emerging community priorities. The management and coordination of growth outside of 
Thetford, in the other growth locations such as Attleborough and Dereham, is much less well 
developed and primarily undertaken by Breckland District Council. An important immediate 
challenge for Breckland District Council is to develop a co-ordinated approach to deliver 
growth across the whole district which attracts the same level of stakeholder and political 
involvement as in Thetford.  
 
3.2.8 The new, updated Sustainable Community Strategy reflects this progress and in the 
last two years, the Partnership has developed three new strategies on Economic Prosperity, 
Culture and Social Inclusion.  Together, with the Local Development Framework and the 
Norfolk Local Area Agreement, the three documents underpin the Sustainable Community 
Strategy and structure the work of the Partnership.  Delivering and co-ordinating the growth 
will provide a high profile role for the Partnership should it chose to adopt the ringmaster 
function as outlined above.  
 
Key Dates: 
End of March 2009 Breckland submits (hands in) its LDF Core Strategy and Policies to 
Government  
July 2009 – A Government Inspector will test whether the document is deliverable, justified 
and effective at an Examination in Public to be held in Dereham 
November 2009 – Breckland will be consulting on specific sites which it considers are best 
placed to deliver the LDF Strategy  

 

3.3      Options 

3.3.1 To note [for information and planning purposes] the contents of this report. 

3.4      Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.4.1 It is important that the LSP starts to consider and discuss its potential role in delivering 
the objectives of the SCS and their spatial expression in the LDF.  Examples are starting to 
emerge (eg Huntingdonshire) which this LSP Board may wish to explore further.   

103



 

104



CAA – Norfolk 
LSPs
A summary of findings

Sue Jewkes

CAA Lead Norfolk

A
g
e
n
d

a
 Ite

m
 1

4

1
0
5



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people2

Similarities and differences

• Different structures

•Different sizes

•Different leadership levels

•Different representation

• All meet regularly

• All updated community strategy

• All get good external representation

• All focused on local issues

1
0

6



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people3

Structures

• 5 operate a clear 2 tier framework – strategic and 

delivery
– Executive Board/Strategic Board (GY)

– Partnership Board/MAST (Broadland)

– Partnership Board/Management Group  + thematic 

partnerships(NCC) 

– Strategic Board/Delivery Board (Norwich)

– Board/Management Group (KL&WN)

• 3 are different – or were setting something new up
– Overall partnership/project specific partnership groups (Breckland)

– Partnership Board/changing to a thematic structure/also LAPA (NN)

– Executive Board/moving to thematic delivery vehicle (SN)

1
0
7



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people4

Size

• The meetings varied in size from 12 to 30 people.

• The average was around 15 – 20.

• Larger meetings had less engagement; the smallest 

worked the best.

•Many venues were too small to fit everyone in 

comfortably and were not conducive to effective 

discussions.

1
0

8



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people5

Leadership

• Too often meetings appeared to be an extension of 

the Council which discouraged others from 

participating.

• The most effective leaders at a district level were 

high profile, highly competent and independent.

• The best meetings had good engagement and 

support from senior officers and members.

1
0
9



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people6

Representation

• Generally very good support from a wide range of 
organisations and sectors (people attended but didn’t really 
participate).

• Frequent sending of substitutes in many meetings means 
partners don’t know each other. (substitutes rarely speak)

• Must be a huge drain on resources for some organisations to 
feed the ‘LSP beast.’
– Police always attend (but hardly ever say anything)

• Very good attendance by Voluntary Norfolk (and 
participation)

• Good attendance by NCC senior managers at district LSPs

• Patchy support for district LSPs by PCTs

• My overall impression is that you are not getting good value 
for money from the representatives attending your meetings.

1
1

0



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people7

Achievements

• Excellent e.g.s of local partnership projects really 

making a difference.
– Vulnerable person’s pilot (Broadland)

– Credit unions (a number of LSPs)

– VCS Together (NN)

– Safe Haven project (KL&WN)

– Cherry Tree park (Breckland)

• Some of these are so good they should be rolled 

out more widely but:
– No mechanisms for easily facilitating this or sharing learning across 

LSPs

1
1
1



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people8

Achievements

•Many other successful partnerships between 

organisations operating outside of the LSP 

structure.

• A number of LSPs appear to be achieving little that 

could not be achieved through other means. 

• Is maintaining 8 separate Norfolk LSPs a ‘luxury’?

• Are there more innovative solutions to achieving 

partnership working at a local level?

1
1

2



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people9

Managing performance 

• Very few reports or discussions about progress on 

community strategy priorities.

• Most people attending partnership meetings would leave 

with little idea of whether the LSP was achieving what it set 

out to do.

• Most LSPs had new or refreshed community strategies; few 

had clear action plans for delivering outcomes in agreed 

priorities.

• NCSP has the LAA focus for performance management, but 

is less clear in areas not covered.

1
1
3



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people10

Links with the LAA – district LSPs
• Overall this was very poor.

• In most instances it was briefly mentioned

• No real debate about how the LSP could be concentrating on 
achieving LAA outcomes in their locality

• Not clear how priorities in district community strategies link 
with Norfolk Ambition and the LAA
– The LAA is mentioned in most opening pages, but then not properly followed 

up in any actions.

• All LSPs trying to respond to request from LAA team to link 
their current work to LAA outcomes
– Very difficult to achieve

– Mainly looking at retro-fixing rather than new opportunities

• Many attendees do not understand the LAA or their part in it

• No real concept of organisations using mainstream funds 
towards LAA outcomes.

1
1

4



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people11

Other comments

• The best meetings were well structured and no longer than 2 
hours.

• The management of meeting notes and agenda papers was 
variable.

• Too much time spent on discussing individual project 
requests for funding (disproportionate).

• Too many council officers at meetings.

• LSPs are at differing stages of maturity.

• Often duplication of effort between LSPs
– Surveys, especially in and around Norwich

– Consultants reports – needs assessments

– Setting up of support services, such as credit unions

1
1
5



Audit Commission Tomorrow's people12

In summary

• Some great work on local initiatives – with real outcomes

• Huge commitment to making LSPs work

• Strong Council lead; Good partner support

• Need better focus

• More clarity about what they are setting out to achieve, 
including measurable outcomes

• Better performance management needed

• Not all current structures are effective

• Consider value for money and investigate innovative 
solutions to delivering local partnerships

• Where appropriate review and strengthen leadership of LSP

• Ensure better understanding and stronger links to the LAA

1
1

6



FUTURE - LSP BOARD 
MEETINGS AND THE

PROJECT GROUPS 2009

LSP BOARD Meetings;
2 - 4 PM Anglia Room

19th February 
14th May 
16th July 
10th September 
5th November 

RISK WORKSHOP:
1.30 - 5PM Anglia Rm

23rd March 

PRIDE PROJECT GROUP
10 – 12 AM Anglia Room

4th February 
8th April 
3rd June 
5th August 
6th October 
8th December 

ECONOMIC PROJECT GROUP
2 – 4 PM Norfolk Room

12th February 
16th April 
11th June 
13th August 
15th October 
10th December 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT
GROUP

2 – 4 PM Norfolk Room 
(except 19/08)

4th February 
1st April 
17th June 
19th August (10-12) 
21st October 
9th December

HEALTH & WELLBEING 
PROJECT GROUP

Dates to be confirmed 

Agenda Item 17

117


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	LSP presentation- climate change

	7a Pride in Breckland Project
	Pride Action Plan
	Pride Minutes 4-2-09 final

	7d Thetford Healthy Town - Update
	8 Environmental Project Group
	LSP Environment Project Group minutes 04 02 09

	11 Cleaner, Safer, Greener Charter
	12 Risk Matrix and Workshop
	13 Local Development Framework (LDF) and Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS)
	14 Comprehensive Area Assessment - Norfolk LSPs Summary
	17 Future Meetings

